Aus der Klinik und Poliklinik für Radiologie Klinik der Universität München Direktor: Prof. Dr. Jens Ricke

Korrelation verschiedener radiologischer Untersuchungsverfahren und Verfahren der Lungenfunktionsuntersuchung bei Patienten mit zystischer Fibrose

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

> vorgelegt von Vivien Laura Kratzer

> > aus Friedrichshafen

> > > Jahr 2024

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Universität München

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Ullrich G. Mueller-Lisse		
Mitberichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Nikolaus Kneidinger		
	Prof. Dr. Kathrin Kahnert		

Mitbetreuung durch die

promovierte Mitarbeiterin:	Dr. Hanna Zimmermann
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. Thomas Gudermann

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 14.11.2024

Table of Contents

List of	Figures	1
List of	Tables	2
Abbrev	viations	3
1.	Abstracts	4
1.1	Abstract: Cross-sectional study	4
1.2	Abstract: Cohort study	5
2.	Zusammenfassungen	6
2.1	Zusammenfassung: Querschnittstudie	6
2.2	Zusammenfassung: Kohortenstudie	7
3.	Introduction	8
4.	Material and Methods	.11
4.1	Study Design, Study Setting, and Patient Population	.11
4.2	Variables and Outcomes	.12
4.3	Data Sources and Measurements	.12
4.3.1	HRCT protocol	12
4.3.2	HRCT evaluation	.13
4.3.3	PFTs and the genetic mutation status	13
4.4	Quantitative Variables and Statistical Methods	.14
4.4.1	Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	.14
4.4.2	Wilcoxon signed-rank test	.14
4.4.3	Mann-Whitney-U-test (Wilcoxon rank-sum test)	.14
4.4.4	Bland-Altman-Plot	15
5.	Results	16
5.1	Results of the Cross-sectional Study	.16
5.1.1	Descriptive statistics of the CF patients in the cross-sectional study	.16
5.1.2	The Brody score in the cross-sectional study	.17
5.1.3	Sample patients in the cross-sectional study	.19
5.1.4	Interobserver reproducibility in the cross-sectional study	21
5.1.5	PFTs and the BMI in the cross-sectional study	23
5.1.6	The influence of gender, age, the genetic mutation status, and the examination date in the cross-sectional study	.25

5.2	Results of the Cohort Study	. 27
5.2.1	Descriptive Statistic of the CF patients in the cohort study	.27
5.2.2	The Brody score in the cohort study	. 28
5.2.3	Sample patient in the cohort study	. 33
5.2.4	PFTs and the BMI in the cohort study	. 34
5.2.5	The influence of gender, the genetic mutation status, and the examination date in the cohort study	ו 37.
6.	Discussion	. 38
6.1	The state of disease of young adults suffering from CF	. 38
6.2	The course of disease of CF patients in early adulthood	. 39
6.3	Limitations	.40
7.	Conclusion	.42
8.	References	.43
9.	Appendix	.49
Ackno	wledgements	. 57
Affida	vit	. 58

List of Figures

Figure	1: Flow chart of the patient population1	1
Figure	2: Venn diagram of the CF patients in the cross-sectional study1	7
Figure	3: The Brody score in the cross-sectional study1	7
Figure	4: The composition of the total Brody score out of its five sub-scores in the cross-sectional study	8
Figure	5: HRCT-images of a male CF sample patient with a low Brody score	9
Figure	6: HRCT-images of a male CF sample patient with a high Brody score2	0
Figure	7: Interobserver reproducibility of the total Brody score in the cross-sectiona study	I 1
Figure	8: Interobserver reproducibility of the Brody sub-scores in the cross- sectional study2	3
Figure	9: Correlation between the total Brody score and the spirometry parameters VC and FEV1 in the cross-sectional study2	4
Figure	10: The influence of the genetic mutation on the Brody score in the cross- sectional study2	6
Figure	11: Comparison of the respective Brody scores of the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examinations) 8
Figure	12: Composition of the respective total Brody scores and its five sub-scores for the initial HRCT-examinations as assessed by two independent observers (O1, O2)	s 9
Figure	13: Composition of the respective total Brody scores and its five sub-scores for the follow-up HRCT-examinations as assessed by two independent observers (O1, O2)	0
Figure	14: Total Brody score changes as a function of the initial total Brody score.3	1
Figure	15: Brody sub-score changes as a function of the initial sub-score values 3	2
Figure	16: Example of changes of CF-related lung morphology over four years3	3
Figure	17: Associated spirometry parameters at the respective time of the initial HRCT-examination	5
Figure	18: Associated spirometry parameters at the respective time of the follow-up HRCT-examination	5
Figure	19: Brody score chances with the associated changes of the spirometry parameters VC and FEV1	6

List of Tables

Table 1: Patient demographics in the cross-sectional study	. 16
Table 2: The Brody score of a CF sample patient with a low Brody score	. 19
Table 3: The Brody score of a CF sample patient with a high Brody score	20
Table 4: Spirometry parameters and the BMI in the cross-sectional study	.23
Table 5: Patient demographics in the cohort study	.27
Table 6: The Brody score for the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examination and its change of a female CF sample patient	s . 34
Table 7: CT scanners applied overtime at "LMU Klinikum"	.49
Table 8: CT scanners applied in external radiology departments	.50
Table 9: HRCT Scoring system	.51
Table 10: The Brody score in the cross-sectional study	.52
Table 11: Correlations between the total Brody score and its respective sub-scores in the cross-sectional study	s . 52
Table 12: Correlation between the Brody score and its respective sub-scores with the different spirometry parameters, vital capacity (VC), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), and the Tiffeneau index (FEV1/FVC), and with the body mass index (BMI) in the cross-sectional study	h . 53
Table 13: The Brody score per gender in the cross-sectional study	.53
Table 14: The Brody score in the cohort study: initial HRCT-examination	.54
Table 15: The Brody score in the cohort study: follow-up HRCT-examination	.54
Table 16: Change of the total Brody score and its respective sub-scores in the cohort study	. 55
Table 17: Spirometry parameters in the cohort study: initial examination	55
Table 18: Spirometry parameters in the cohort study: follow-up examination	55
Table 19: Correlations between the Brody score, the spirometry parameters, and the BMI in the cohort study	1e . 56
Table 20: Change of the spirometry parameters between the initial and the follow-u	ıp

Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
CF	Cystic fibrosis
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
СТ	Computed tomography
CTDIvol	Volume computed tomography dose index
DLP	Dose length product
FEV1	Forced expiratory volume in one second
FVC	Forced vital capacity
HRCT	High-resolution computed tomography
kVp	Peak kilovoltage
MDCT	Multidetector computed tomography
n	Size of a statistical sample
р	Probability value
PACS	Picture-archiving-and-communication-system
PFT	Pulmonary function test
r _s	Spearman's rank correlation coefficient
SD	Standard deviation
VC	Vital capacity

1. Abstracts

1.1 Abstract: Cross-sectional study

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common life-threatening autosomal recessive disease among the Caucasian population with the first pulmonary damages already occurring in early childhood. There is a very diverse course of disease during childhood and adolescence due to a varying degree of therapy adherence in that group. Therefore, a high variability of disease severity must be expected when treating CF patients in early adulthood.

To assess the actual, this study aims to evaluate the state of disease of young adults suffering from CF based on high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) -examinations of the lungs and pulmonary function tests (PFTs) through a cross-sectional study.

The study used a dataset from 1998 to 2018 of ninety-one patients from age sixteen to twentytwo and was conducted in two steps. First, HRCT-examinations of the lungs were retrospectively evaluated by two observers (O1 and O2) using the Brody score to measure the degree of pulmonary damage. Second, the Brody score was correlated with the three spirometry parameters vital capacity (VC), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), and the Tiffeneau index, as well as with the body-mass-index (BMI) and the genetic mutation.

Overall, the severity of pulmonary damages exhibited a wide range (Brody score ranging from 0 to 144 (O1) / 175 (O2)), with a high interobserver reproducibility (r_s =0.69). The associated PFTs presented a heterogeneous distribution as well. The Brody score showed an excellent correlation on a statistically highly significant level (p<0.001) with the three spirometry parameters VC (r_s =-0.75 (O1); r_s =-0.60 (O2)), FEV1 (r_s =-0.81 (O1); r_s =-0.69 (O2)), and the Tiffeneau index (r_s =0.68 (O1); r_s =0.67 (O2)), as well as with the BMI (r_s =-0.76 (O1); r_s =-0.67 (O2)). There was no statistically significant difference between male and female CF patients. A correlation between the Brody score and the genetic mutation status could not be found.

A promising avenue for future research would be analysing the causes of these vast differences in the state of disease, like, the influence of genetic mutations or the patient's compliance during childhood and teenage age.

1.2 Abstract: Cohort study

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common life-threatening autosomal recessive disease among the Caucasian population. As there is still no cure for CF, it is essential to prevent or at least delay pulmonary damage to conserve lung function. This aim can be achieved through regular monitoring using high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) -examinations and pulmonary function tests (PFTs) to be able to intervene, if necessary, as soon as possible. Strict monitoring is especially essential in the case of young adults while getting more independent from their parents since they tend to have less disease knowledge than their parents. This often results in less therapy adherence which negatively influences the course of disease.

To evaluate whether there had been any changes in pulmonary damage within the first four years in CF patients after reaching adulthood, a retrospective cohort study was conducted.

The study used a dataset of twenty-nine patients having an HRCT-examination at the age of sixteen to twenty-two with a follow-up HRCT-examination after approximately four years and was conducted in three steps. First, the degree of pulmonary damage for the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examinations of the lungs was retrospectively evaluated by two observers (O1 and O2) using the Brody score. Second, the initial Brody score was correlated with the difference between the initial and the follow-up scores. Third, the associated spirometry parameters of the initial and the follow-up examinations were compared and correlated with the Brody score.

The results revealed a dependency between the magnitude of change in pulmonary damages within the four years and their initial state; the fewer pulmonary damages in the initial HRCT-examination, the bigger the increase of the pulmonary damages within the four-year period (r_s =-0.60 (O1) / r_s =-0.39 (O2)). This increase can be mainly ascribed to the sub-scores bronchiectasis, mucous plugging, and peribronchial thickening. Reduction of pulmonary damages was exclusively found in patients with a medium or high Brody score at the initial HRCT-examination. The spirometry parameters did not show a statistically significant change over the four years. There was no statistically significant correlation between the changes in the Brody score and the changes of the spirometry parameters (p>0.05). Statistically significant differences in the course of disease between male and female and Δ -F-508-homozygous and heterozygous CF patients could not be found.

Future research should focus on analysing the impact of different monitoring procedures between CF patients with initially low and high-grade disease severity.

2. Zusammenfassungen

2.1 Zusammenfassung: Querschnittstudie

Die Zystische Fibrose (CF) ist eine der häufigsten lebensbedrohlichen autosomal rezessiven Erkrankungen der kaukasischen Bevölkerung. Der Krankheitsverlauf während dem Kindes- und Jugendalter ist aufgrund der ungleichen Therapieadhärenz sehr unterschiedlich, sodass bei CF Patientinnen und Patienten im jungen Erwachsenenalter mit einer hohen Variabilität des Krankheitszustandes zu rechnen ist.

Vor diesem Hintergrund zielt diese Studie darauf ab, den Krankheitsstatus von jungen Erwachsenen mit CF anhand von hochauflösenden Computertomographie (HRCT) - Untersuchungen des Brustkorbs und Lungenfunktionsuntersuchungen (PFTs) mithilfe einer Querschnittstudie zu erforschen.

Hierfür wurde ein Datensatz aus den Jahren 1998 bis 2018 von einundneunzig CF Patientinnen und Patienten im Alter von sechszehn bis zweiundzwanzig Jahren in zwei Schritten ausgewertet. Zuerst wurden die HRCT-Untersuchungen des Thorax retrospektiv von zwei unabhängigen Betrachtern (O1 und O2) mithilfe des Brody Scores auf das Ausmaß pulmonaler Schäden ausgewertet. In einem zweiten Schritt wurden die Ergebnisse des Brody Scores mit den drei Lungenfunktionsparametern Vitalkapazität (VC), Einsekundenkapazität (FEV1), Tiffeneau-Index, dem Body-Mass-Index (BMI) und dem genetischen Mutationsstatus der CF Patientinnen und Patienten korreliert.

Insgesamt wurde eine große Bandbreite des Ausmaßes der pulmonalen Schäden gefunden (Brody Score Werte von 0 bis 144 (O1) / 175 (O2)). Die Brody Score Ergebnisse zeigten zudem eine hohe Reproduzierbarkeit zwischen den Betrachtern (r_s =0.69). Auch die zugehörigen PFTs zeigten eine heterogene Verteilung. Es wurden exzellente Korrelationen auf statistisch höchst signifikantem Niveau (p<0.001) zwischen den Brody Score Ergebnissen und den drei Lungenfunktionsparametern VC (r_s =-0.75 (O1); r_s =-0.60 (O2)), FEV1 (r_s =-0.81 (O1); r_s =-0.69 (O2)), Tiffeneau Index (r_s =0.68 (O1); r_s =0.67 (O2)), und dem BMI (r_s =-0.76 (O1); r_s =-0.67 (O2)) festgestellt. Ein statistisch signifikanter Unterschied zwischen männlichen und weiblichen CF Patientinnen und Patienten bestand nicht. Eine Korrelation zwischen den Brody Score Ergebnissen und den Brody Score Ergebnissen und den Brody Score Ergebnissen und den Brody Score Patientinnen und Patienten bestand nicht.

Zukünftig wäre zu erforschen, wie die große Bandbreite des Ausmaßes der pulmonalen Schäden zustande kommt, beispielweise welche Rolle hierbei der genetische Mutationsstatus oder auch die Compliance der CF Patientinnen und Patienten im Kindes- und Teenageralter spielt.

2.2 Zusammenfassung: Kohortenstudie

Die Zystische Fibrose (CF) ist eine der häufigsten lebensbedrohlichen autosomal rezessiven Erkrankungen der kaukasischen Bevölkerung. Da es bislang keine Heilung für die CF gibt, ist es essenziell das Voranschreiten pulmonaler Schäden zu verhindern oder zumindest zu verzögern, um die Lungenfunktion zu erhalten. Dies kann durch regelmäßige Kontrolluntersuchungen mit hochauflösenden Computertomographie (HRCT) -Untersuchungen des Brustkorbs und Lungenfunktionsuntersuchungen (PFTs) erreicht werden, um bei Bedarf zeitnah eingreifen zu können. Besonders bei jungen Erwachsenen, die sich in diesem Alter zunehmend von ihren Eltern unabhängig machen, ist eine strenge Überwachung besonders wichtig, da sie tendenziell weniger Wissen über ihre Krankheit besitzen als ihre Eltern. Dies kann zu einer sinkenden Therapieadhärenz führen, welche sich negativ auf den Krankheitsverlauf auswirken kann.

Vor diesem Hintergrund wurde mithilfe einer retrospektiven Kohorten-Studie untersucht, ob es innerhalb der ersten vier Jahre nach Erreichen des Erwachsenenalters zu Veränderungen der pulmonalen Schäden gekommen war.

Hierfür wurde ein Datensatz von neunundzwanzig CF Patientinnen und Patienten mit einer initialen HRCT-Untersuchung im Alter von sechszehn bis zweiundzwanzig und einer Kontroll-Untersuchung in einem Abstand von ungefähr vier Jahren herangezogen und in drei Schritten untersucht. Zuerst wurde das Ausmaß der pulmonalen Schäden in der initialen und der Kontroll-HRCT-Untersuchung des Brustkorbs anhand des Brody Scores retrospektiv von zwei unabhängigen Betrachtern (O1 und O2) bestimmt. In einem zweiten Schritt wurden die Veränderungen des Brody Scores zwischen der initialen und der Kontroll-HRCT-Untersuchung mit den initialen Brody Score Ergebnissen korreliert. Zuletzt wurden die zugehörigen Lungenfunktionsparameter der initialen und der Kontroll-Untersuchung verglichen und mit den Brody Score Ergebnissen korreliert.

Es wurde ein Zusammenhang zwischen dem Ausmaß der Veränderungen und dem Ausgangszustand gefunden; je weniger pulmonale Schäden in der initialen HRCT-Untersuchung vorhanden waren, desto größer war deren Anstieg innerhalb den Vierjahreszeitraums (r_s =-0.60 (O1) / r_s =-0.39 (O2)). Der Anstieg konnte hauptsächlich auf die Teil Scores Bronchiektasen, Mukusimpaktion und Bronchialwandverdickung zurückgeführt werden. Eine Verringerung der pulmonalen Schädigung konnte ausschließlich bei Patienten mit initial mittlerer und hoher pulmonaler Schädigung gefunden werden. Die Lungenfunktionsparameter zeigten weder eine statistisch signifikante Veränderung innerhalb des Vierjahreszeitraums, noch korrelierte deren Veränderung mit der Veränderung des Brody Scores (p>0.05). Der Krankheitsverlauf zwischen männlichen und weiblichen und zwischen Δ -F-508-homozygoten und heterozygoten CF Patientinnen und Patienten unterschied sich nicht.

Ein interessanter Ansatz für zukünftige Forschungen wäre, ob der Einsatz unterschiedlicher Überwachungsverfahren für CF Patientinnen und Patienten mit initial niedrigem und hohem Schweregrad der Erkrankung sinnvoll sein könnte.

3. Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common life-threatening autosomal recessive disease among the Caucasian population, with an incidence of 1 in 2,500 new-borns. In 2019, the European Cystic Fibrosis Society registered 50,902 CF patients in Europe, thereof 6,481 in Germany [1].

CF is caused by a genetic mutation in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene, located on chromosome 7, leading to an abnormal chloride channel function. Currently, 2,110 known genetic mutations are listed in the cystic fibrosis mutation database [2, 3]. The most common genetic mutation is Δ -F-508, found in two-thirds of CF patients in Europe and in over 70% of CF patients in Germany [4-6]. The chloride channel malfunction results in the accumulation of viscous luminal secretions in different organs, like the lungs, the gastrointestinal tract, the pancreas, sweat glands, and the ductus deferens in men. Common extrapulmonary symptoms are, to name a few, meconium ileus, pancreatic insufficiency, increased concentrations of sodium and chloride in sweat and male infertility [7, 8]. In the lungs, CF causes airway obstruction due to abnormal mucous and an increased vulnerability to pulmonary infections [9]. This results in a large spectrum of progressive pulmonary damages, which are still the primary cause of death in CF patients [8], resulting in a current life expectancy of 55 years for a new-born in Germany diagnosed with CF [10].

High-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) is particularly sensitive to detect those pulmonary changes at an early stage in which the pulmonary function is not yet impaired [11-13]. This is especially important as the first pulmonary damages occur at a very young age [9]. The most common pulmonary damages seen on computed tomography (CT) images are bronchiectasis and peribronchial thickening [14, 15], followed by mucous plugging and many others such as hyperinflation, ground-glass opacities, consolidations, bullae or cysts [16]. To monitor the pulmonary function of CF patients, regular pulmonary function tests (PFTs) are recommended, with vital capacity (VC), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), and the Tiffeneau index being the most common and valuable parameters to evaluate the course of disease [17-19]. Nevertheless, the best method to monitor patients' pulmonary conditions is the combination of HRCT-examinations and PFTs [20, 21].

Monitoring the clinical status of CF patients is especially important since the course of the disease varies a lot and depends on optimal therapy adherence [22]. However, there are many barriers, especially for children and young adults, leading to less therapy adherence when growing older [23]. One huge barrier is time management since the daily treatments are complex and require much time [24-26]. Also, rising annual medical costs for CF treatments can become obstacles for some CF patients [27]. Other barriers can be simply forgetting to take the medication [25, 28], a lack of disease knowledge [29] or poor awareness of the consequences of non-adherence [26, 28]. However, also socio-psychological factors such as the feeling of losing their freedom [28] influence the therapy adherence of young adults [30]. Especially young adults tend to take higher risks, although being aware of the effect on their health, as shown in an online survey with participants aged eighteen to twenty-five [31].

Altogether, there are a lot of inter-individual differences in therapy adherence among young CF patients, so a high variability of the state of disease can be expected when the CF patients arrive in adolescence. Hence, this study aims to evaluate the state of disease of young adults suffering from CF through a cross-sectional study, resulting in the following research question:

Research question I: What is the state of disease of young adults suffering from cystic fibrosis based on HRCT-examinations of the lungs and PFTs?

As there is still no cure for CF, it is essential to prevent or at least delay pulmonary damage and conserve lung function. This aim can be achieved through regular monitoring to be able to intervene if necessary as soon as possible [32]. HRCT is a suitable measurement method for monitoring CF patients since it is more sensitive than PFTs in detecting the progress of pulmonary changes [18, 33-35]. However, there is currently no guideline on how or when to perform followup examinations. In Germany, there is currently an S2k guideline for "diagnosis of cystic fibrosis" [36] and an S3 guideline on "diagnostics and treatment in chronic infection with pseudomonas aeruginosa" [37]. Even though the best-practice guidelines issued by the "European Cystic Fibrosis Society" [38] mention the use of HRCT in some CF centres, it is not generally recommended. Still, many CF centres use routine HRCT-examinations for non-occasional status assessments and research purposes. For example, de Jong, P. A. et al. [33, 39] and Loeve, M., et al. [40] from the Netherlands chose two years, Fuchs, S. I., et al. [41] from Germany chose three years as their interval for follow-up CT-examinations. Helbich, T. H., et al. [42] from Austria even propose HRCT-examinations every six to eighteen months to react to pulmonary changes before they become irreversible. At the "Medizinische Klinik IV" at the "LMU Klinikum Innenstadt", every patient over the age of eighteen is offered a follow-up HRCT-examination of the lungs once every four years to monitor the development of CF-related pulmonary damages [43].

When performing HRCT-examinations, especially on children and young adults, the risks of ionising radiation should not be overlooked. CF patients are exposed to a significantly higher radiation dose than the average population [44]. For comparison, the radiation dose of one HRCT-examination of the lungs can be up to 6,5 mSv [45], while the natural radiation dose of the population is about 4mSv per year. Even though the risk of developing cancer is only marginally increased [46-48], routine HRCT-examinations for monitoring HRCT should only be performed if there is a consequence for the CF patient and his treatment. Nevertheless, strict monitoring is essential in young adults while getting more independent from their parents since they tend to have less disease knowledge than their parents, resulting in less therapy adherence [29, 49]. So, a retrospective cohort-study was conducted to evaluate whether there had been any changes in pulmonary damages on HRCT-images and, if available, in the associated PFTs within the first four years after reaching adolescence with the following research question:

Research question II: What is the course of disease of CF patients in early adulthood within an interval of four years based on HRCT-examinations of the lungs and PFTs?

To answer the two research questions, CF patients with an HRCT-examination of the lungs at the age of sixteen to twenty-two and, if available, an associated PFT, were retrospectively recruited from the "Interdisziplinäres Mukoviszidose Zentrum des Klinikums der Universität München" and

were included in a cross-sectional study. Those CF patients with an additional follow-up HRCTexamination after approximately four years and, if available, an associated PFT, were included in a cohort-study.

The "Interdisziplinäres Mukoviszidose Zentrum des Klinikums der Universität München" is the largest one in Germany, treating 550 CF patients as of January 2022 [10, 50]. The centre consists of two departments: The "Christiane-Herzog-Ambulanz" at "Dr. von Haunersches Kinderspital" treats paediatric CF patients up to a maximum age of thirty years. Adult patients from the age of eighteen years on are treated at "Medizinische Klinik V" at the "LMU Klinikum Innenstadt" close by [50]. At the transition point from the paediatric to the adult department, an HRCT-examination of the lungs is usually performed [43]. It establishes an initial state of lung disease for future follow-up examinations since the paediatric department almost exclusively performs chest x-rays. In addition, as mentioned before, every patient over the age of eighteen is offered a follow-up HRCT-examinations of the lungs once every four years and a PFT once every six months. Additional HRCT-examinations are performed if there are indications of progress or aggravation [43].

To document the state of disease of the CF patients objectively, it is advisable to work with a standardized scoring system. Over time, several different CF-specific scoring systems were invented to evaluate the HRCT-scans, which were compared by de Jonget al. [51]. Among those, the Brody score notable stood out and was chosen for the evaluation of the HRCT-examinations for the two studies presented in this thesis. It involves all essential CF-specific pulmonary changes and presents excellent interobserver reproducibility [43, 51, 52]. It is applicable in children [11, 52, 53] and adult CF patients [43, 54], which is especially important since the patient collective of both studies is at the transition point from childhood to adulthood.

The Brody score was initially invented by Brody et al. [11] for incremental HRCT-scans of six-toten-year-old children suffering from CF. The Brody score is a weighted semi-quantitative, composite score with a theoretical range of 0 to 243 points and consists of five sub-scores: Bronchiectasis (range: 0 to 72 points), mucous plugging (range: 0 to 36 points), peribronchial thickening (range: 0 to 54 points), parenchymal opacity (range: 0 to 54 points), and hyperinflation (range: 0 to 27 points). Since combining different sub-scores with a maximum value, e.g., parenchymal opacities as consolidations, is not possible, the possible range for the Brody score is 0 to 207 points. The different pulmonary damages' presence, location, and extent is evaluated for the centre and the periphery of the upper, lower, and middle lobe (represented by the lingula on the left) of both lungs [11].

To answer the two research questions, this thesis is structured as follows: Following the introduction, the respective data sources and methodology of the cross-sectional study and the cohort study are presented. After reporting the results of the two studies, they are critically assessed and interpreted in a common discussion, considering the respective limitations of each study and the current state of medical research in the field.

4. Material and Methods

4.1 Study Design, Study Setting, and Patient Population

Two retrospective, mono-institutional studies were performed: A cross-sectional exploratory study and a cohort-study. The studies did not have a specific hypothesis to test, and sample-size calculation was not performed. Instead, all available data sets meeting the inclusion criteria of our institution, the "Interdisziplinäres Mukoviszidose Zentrum des Klinikums der Universität München", were utilised for analysis and exploration purposes. The development of the patient population is illustrated in Figure 1 below.



Figure 1: Flow chart of the patient population displaying the origin of the study size for the cross-sectional (91 patients, marked red) and the cohort study (29 patients, marked blue).

During the retrospective recruitment time, from September 1998 to March 2018, 620 patients with clinically or genetically established CF were listed in the institutional picture-archiving-and-communication-system (PACS). 544 of them had one or more HRCT-examinations of their lungs. Incomplete HRCT-examinations were excluded. Ninety-one had at least one HRCT-examination at the age of sixteen to twenty-two (range, 15.6 to 22.1 years) without previous lung transplantation. These patients were included in the monocentric, retrospective cross-sectional study. Twenty-nine of the CF patients in the cross-sectional study also had at least one follow-up HRCT-examination after four years (range, 2.9 to 5.3 years) without interval lung transplantation. These patients were included in the monocentric, retrospective cohort study.

The retrospective evaluation of the HRCT-images and the clinical data, such as spirometry and the genetic mutation, took place with the approval of the hospital ethics committee under the consecutive project number 294-10.

4.2 Variables and Outcomes

The primary outcome of the cross-sectional study was the lung morphology status of young adults suffering from CF aged sixteen to twenty-two years. In the cohort study, the primary outcome was the change of the lung morphology of these patients within a four-year period. To quantify the lung morphology status and its change, HRCT-examinations of the lung and PFTs were analysed. The Brody score, ranging from 0 to 207 points on a metric scale, was used to assess the HRCT-examinations. The interobserver reproducibility of the Brody score was a secondary outcome of the cross-sectional study. Secondary outcomes of both studies were the correlations between HRCT lung morphology and the spirometry parameters FEV1, VC, and the Tiffeneau-index. For reasons of comparability, percentage values instead of absolute values were used for the VC and the FEV1.

To minimise bias, the following precautions were taken: Two independent observers with varying levels of expertise scored the HRCT-examinations twice to reduce the impact of experience on the Brody score's outcome. To ensure that the lung morphology aligns with the lung function, the time interval between the HRCT-examinations and the PFTs for CF patients was limited to two days. This restriction was implemented considering the potential rapid deterioration of lung function due to factors like disease exacerbation.

The following variables were included in the analysis as potential confounders: age and gender of the CF patients, the CF-specific genetic mutation if available and the examination date of the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examination.

4.3 Data Sources and Measurements

4.3.1 HRCT protocol

The images were stored in DICOM format and were retrieved from the institutional PACS (Syngo, Siemens Healthineers AG, Erlangen, Germany). 110 of the 120 different HRCT-examinations included in the two studies were performed at "LMU Klinikum", using fifteen different clinical CT-scanners from 1998 to 2018. The remaining ten HRCT-examinations had been copied to PACS from data stores obtained from external hospitals and practices. The CT-scanner originated from the companies Philips Medical Systems DMC GmbH (Hamburg, Germany), GE Healthcare GmbH (Chicago, USA), Siemens AG (Munich, Germany), and Canon Medical Systems Corporation (Ōtawara, Japan). The slice thickness varied between 0.625 and 6.0 mm including a couple of incremental CTs. Table 7 and Table 8 in the Appendix show a complete overview of the different CT-scanners.

4.3.2 HRCT evaluation

120 different HRCT-examinations were used for the two studies, including ninety-one in the crosssectional study and twenty-nine additional ones in the cohort study. Another thirty-eight HRCTexaminations of the lungs used for the study of a co-worker were added to the group since some data was shared. The resulting 158 HRCT-examinations were randomly assigned to thirty-two blocks, with thirty-one blocks including five HRCT-examinations each, and one block including three HRCT-examinations. After another review, ten HRCT-examinations from the co-worker's study were removed because of preceding lung transplantation. The remaining blocks consisted of twenty-two blocks with five, eight with four, and two with three HRCT-examinations each. Those thirty-two blocks were reviewed in random order by each of the two observers. For further evaluation, each patient was assigned a random ID number.

The remaining 148 HRCT-examinations were scored by each of the two independent observers (O1 and O2). O1 was an attending radiologist with nineteen years of post-fellowship experience, and O2 was a 4th-year medical student without experience in examining HRCT-examinations of the lungs. Before the evaluation, five HRCT-examinations of the lungs of patients suffering from cystic fibrosis, which were not part of any of the studies, were jointly evaluated by O1 and O2, based on the Brody scoring system [11].

For evaluation, HRCT-examinations were displayed in lung-window setting (centre, C, -600 Hounsfield-units, HU, window width, W, 1,600 HU) on two suitable 5k-PACS monitors, with axial and coronal images each displayed on the full-screen, side by side. The previously introduced Brody score was assigned independently by each O1 and O2, who remained unaware of each other's results. The results were recorded in customized scoring sheets in Microsoft Excel by another researcher who was not involved in the assessment. The template for the scoring sheets is provided in Table 9 in the Appendix.

4.3.3 PFTs and the genetic mutation status

After scoring the HRCT-examinations, pertinent clinical information (date of birth, gender, and genetic mutation status) for every patient was looked up in the hospital-information-system (HIS) and recorded if available. Afterwards, patient records were searched for PFTs obtained within two days of the HRCT-examination. If available, VC, FEV1, the Tiffeneau index (FEV1/FVC), and body weight and height were taken. The Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the following formula:

$$BMI = \frac{weight (kg)}{height (m)^2}$$

4.4 Quantitative Variables and Statistical Methods

In all evaluations, the results were classified as statistically significant for p<0.05 and statistically highly significant for p<0.001. In the event of p>0.05, the results were classified as statistically insignificant.

4.4.1 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient

The Spearman rank correlation coefficient was chosen to assess the correlation between different values since a normal distribution could not be assumed. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, also known as Spearman's ρ (rho) or r_s, is a non-parametric test to show the correlation between the ranks of two variables. It ranges between -1 and +1 and evaluates monotonic relationships [55] as opposed to Pearson's correlation which requires a linear relationship and a normal distribution of the values. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient is commonly used to compare two different examinations [e.g. 56] and to assess interobserver reproducibility [e.g. 57].

In the cross-sectional study, Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used to correlate the following findings: The total Brody score with its respective sub-scores, with the age of the patients and with the dates of the HRCT-examinations. The total Brody score and its sub-scores with the spirometry parameters (VC, FEV1, Tiffeneau index) and the BMI. The total Brody score and its sub-scores scored by O1 with those scored by O2. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was also used in the cohort study to correlate the Brody score changes with the initial Brody score and the changes of the spirometry parameters with the changes of the Brody score.

4.4.2 Wilcoxon signed-rank test

The Wilcoxon signed-rank test is a non-parametric test for paired samples. It identifies whether there is a difference in the mean ranks of the two samples [58]. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to evaluate whether the Brody scores in the cross-sectional study were consistently higher for one of the two observers. In the cohort study, it was used to assess whether the Brody score and the spirometry parameters differed significantly between the initial and the follow-up examination.

4.4.3 Mann-Whitney-U-test (Wilcoxon rank-sum test)

To detect whether the gender or the genetic mutation status of the patients influenced the Brody score in the cross-sectional study and whether they influenced the changes of the Brody score in the cohort study, the Mann-Whitney-U-test was performed. It is a nonparametric test for two independent samples and is an alternative to the t-test, which requires a normal distribution [59]. The Mann-Whitney-U-test was chosen because a normal distribution of the values could not be assumed. Application examples for using the Mann-Whitney-U-test to identify the influence of gender are found in the studies by Bachettiet al. [60] and Kohet al. [61].

4.4.4 Bland-Altman-Plot

The Bland-Altman-Plot, also known as the mean-deviation-plot, was first introduced to medical statistics by Blandet al. [62]. It visualizes the agreement between two measurement methods, S_1 and S_2 and was chosen to visualise the interobserver reproducibility of the Brody score and its respective sub-scores. The average of the numerical results is displayed on the x-axis, while their difference is shown on the y-axis. The function formula for the graph is shown below:

$$S(x,y) = \left(\frac{S_1 + S_2}{2}, (S_1 - S_2)\right)$$

For a better visual interpretation, three supporting lines are added to the graph:

- the mean of the differences,
- the mean of the differences + 1,96 x SD of the mean difference
- the mean of the differences 1,96 x SD of the mean difference.

The Bland-Altman-Plot visualises the deviation variation and shows systematic mistakes, such as if one method systematically returns higher measurements than the other [62, 63]. Bland Altman plots are commonly used to visualize the intra- and interobserver reproducibility of quantitative variables [e.g. 43, 64].

5. Results

5.1 Results of the Cross-sectional Study

5.1.1 Descriptive statistics of the CF patients in the cross-sectional study

The cross-sectional study included ninety-one patients aged sixteen to twenty-two years, with a balanced gender distribution. As displayed in Table 1, there was a slight difference in age between genders, whereby male patients were, on average, one-half-year younger than females. Among the seventy-two patients (79% of all) whose genetic mutations had been established, sixty-six (92% of seventy-two) presented at least one Δ -F-508 mutation. Almost 60% of Δ -F-508-mutation carriers were homozygotic, and about 40% were heterozygotic. In this context, the term " Δ -F-508 heterozygotic" describes patients carrying two different CFTR mutations, one being the Δ -F-508 variant. Six patients had other established genetic mutations, e.g., G542X or G551D. In nineteen patients (21%), no genetic mutation analysis was found in the available patient record.

		total	female	male
n		91	47	44
Age (years)	lowest	15.6	15.9	15.6
	highest	22.1	22.1	21.6
	mean	19.1	19.3	18.8
	median	19.3	19.8	19.1
Genetic mutation	Δ -F-508 homozygote	39	21	18
	Δ -F-508 heterozygote	27	12	15
	other	6	1	5
	unknown	19	13	6

Table 1: Patient demographics in the cross-sectional study

As graphically illustrated in Figure 2, among the ninety-one patients having an HRCT-examination at the age of sixteen to twenty-two years (yellow circle), the genetic mutation was found in the patient records of seventy-two patients (blue circle). A PFT within two days of the HRCT-examination was performed in forty patients (red circle). A total of thirty-one patients exhibited both a recorded genetic mutation and pertinent PFT results (purple interface).



Figure 2: Venn diagram of the CF patients in the cross-sectional study.



5.1.2 The Brody score in the cross-sectional study

Figure 3: The Brody score in the cross-sectional study. The total Brody score (grey boxes) and its respective sub-scores for bronchiectasis (blue boxes), mucous plugging (purple boxes), peribronchial thickening (yellow boxes), parenchymal opacity (red boxes) and hyperinflation (green boxes) are shown in box-and-shisker-plots for each of the two observers, O1 and O2.

As displayed in Figure 3, a wide range of Brody scores was found (see Table 10 in the Appendix). The total Brody score scored by O1 ranged from 0 to 144 points, and from 0 to 175 points scored by O2. The possible maximum scoring result of 207 points was not reached. The entire possible ranges for the Brody sub-scores bronchiectasis, mucous plugging, peribronchial thickening and hyperinflation were only used by O2. The maximum scoring results of O1 for these sub-scores



were slightly lower. Even though a potential maximum of 54 points would have been possible, the highest parenchymal opacity sub-score was only 26 points from O2 and 12 points from O1.

Figure 4: The composition of the total Brody score out of its five sub-scores in the cross-sectional study. The total Brody score composed of its respective sub-scores bronchiectasis (blue bars), mucous plugging (purple bars), peribronchial thickening (yellow bars), parenchymal opacity (red bars) and hyperinflation (green bars) is displayed on the x-axis in ascending order. **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2.

Figure 4 shows the composition of the total Brody scores. Each of the five sub-scores increased with a statistically highly significant correlation when the total Brody score rose (see Table 11 in the Appendix). The sub-scores for bronchiectasis and peribronchial thickening took the largest share of the total composite score. They also showed the best correlations with the total composite score (Spearman rank correlations, bronchiectasis: O1: $r_s=0.90$, O2: $r_s=0.92$; peribronchial thickening: O1: $r_s=0.88$, O2: $r_s=0.85$). The most significant difference between the Brody score from O1 and O2 was found in the parenchymal opacity sub-score. O2 assigned this sub-score in a higher proportion of patients as well as higher points in individual cases. Nevertheless, the Spearman rank correlation coefficients between the parenchymal opacity sub-score and the total Brody score were almost identical for O1 ($r_s=0.50$) and O2 ($r_s=0.48$).

5.1.3 Sample patients in the cross-sectional study

Figure 5 shows HRCT-images of a Δ -F-508 homozygote male CF sample patient at the age of 16.3 years as an example of low-grade disease severity with limited pulmonary changes.



Figure 5: HRCT-images of a male CF sample patient with a low Brody score. a 5 cm above tracheal carina **b** at the level of tracheal carina **c** 5 cm below tracheal carina **d** coronal reconstruction showing the tracheal carina.

As displayed in Table 2, both observers assigned low values to the different sub-scores, resulting in a low total Brody score. The associated spirometry results were in the normal ranges for the patient's age and gender, with 95.7% for VC, 107.7% for FEV1, and a Tiffeneau index of 0.94.

	01	02
Total Brody score	11.00 points	18.50 points
Bronchiectasis	6.00 points	2.50 points
Mucous plugging	0.00 points	0.00 points
Peribronchial thickening	5.00 points	14.00 points
Parenchymal opacity	0.00 points	0.00 points
Hyperinflation	0.00 points	2.00 points

Table 2: The Brody score of a CF sample patient with a low Brody score (set	e Fig. 5)
---	-----------

For comparison, Figure 6 shows the HRCT-images of a patient with advanced CF-related lung disease, with advanced structural impairment of the lungs, resulting in a higher total Brody score. The patient was male, 20.1 years old, and Δ -F-508 heterozygous.



Figure 6: HRCT-images of a male CF sample patient with a high Brody score. a 5cm above tracheal carina **b** at the level of tracheal carina **c** 5cm below tracheal carina **d** coronal reconstruction showing the tracheal carina.

Unlike the sample patient in the first example above, this patient had high scoring results in all five sub-scores (see Table 3). The higher Brody score was associated with worse spirometry parameters compared to the first sample patient with a low Brody score, namely, 39.5% for VC and 23.5% for FEV1, with a Tiffeneau index of 0.49.

	O1	02
Total Brody score	93.50 points	93.75 points
Bronchiectasis	39.00 points	47.50 points
Mucous plugging	10.00 points	6.00 points
Peribronchial thickening	29.50 points	19.75 points
Parenchymal opacity	6.00 points	10.00 points
Hyperinflation	9.00 points	10.50 points

Table 3: The Brody score of a CF sample patient with a high Brody score (see Fig. 6)

5.1.4 Interobserver reproducibility in the cross-sectional study

The Bland-Altman plot shown in Figure 7 visualizes the interobserver reproducibility of the Brody score. The results of the two observers showed a statistically highly significant correlation (Spearman rank correlations, r_s =0.69, p<0.001, n=91); however, with O2 raising higher scores than O1 (p<0.001, n= 87, Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, considering ties). O2 raised, on average, 12.73 points higher scores than O1, with a maximum deviation of 84 points. The greater the total Brody score, the more significant the difference between O1 and O2.



Figure 7: Interobserver reproducibility of the total Brody score in the cross-sectional study. The averages of the total Brody scores are displayed on the x-axis ((O1+O2)/2), and the difference of the total Brody score between O1 and O2 is displayed on the y-axis (O2-O1).

The Bland-Altman plots in Figure 8 visualise the interobserver reproducibility for each sub-score. As seen, there are systematic differences between the observers for the sub-scores on bronchiectasis and parenchymal opacity, respectively. O2 had higher scoring results in both subscores than O1 (bronchiectasis p<0.001, n= 87; parenchymal opacity p<0.001, n= 84; Wilcoxontest for matched pairs, considering ties). Furthermore, the deviation increased when average scores increased, which is seen most clearly for the parenchymal opacity sub-score. The subscores on mucous plugging and peribronchial thickening showed an apparent spread, which mostly stayed within the limits of agreement. Especially for the hyperinflation sub-scores, large deviations were found around high average scoring results. There were no statistically significant differences between the observers for the sub-scores on mucous plugging, peribronchial thickening or hyperinflation (mucous plugging p>0.05, n= 79, rank sum: 1855,5, critical value: 1179; peribronchial thickening p>0.05, n= 87, rank sum: 1802,5, critical value: 1451; hyperinflation p>0.05, n= 80, rank sum: 1529,5, critical value: 1211; Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, considering ties). For each sub-score of the Brody score, a statistically highly significant correlation was observed between the values of O1 and O2 (Spearman rank correlations, bronchiectasis $r_s=0.77$, mucous plugging $r_s=0.55$, peribronchial thickening $r_s=0.49$, parenchymal opacity $r_s=0.46$, hyperinflation $r_s=0.37$, each p<0.001, n=91).





Figure 8: Interobserver reproducibility of the Brody sub-scores in the cross-sectional study. The averages of the Brody sub-score results are displayed on the x-axis ((O1+O2)/2), and the differences of the Brody sub-score results between O1 and O2 are displayed on the y-axis (O2-O1). **1** Bronchiectasis sub-score **2** Mucous plugging sub-score **3** Peribronchial thickening sub-score **4** Parenchymal opacity sub-score **5** Hyperinflation sub-score.

5.1.5 PFTs and the BMI in the cross-sectional study

Forty patients (twenty-one female, nineteen male) had a PFT within two days of their HRCTexamination. The spirometry parameters VC, FEV1, the Tiffeneau index and the BMI are displayed in Table 4.

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
VC (%)	26.7	127.8	70.9	73.5	57.7	90.0
FEV1 (%)	17.7	116.0	61.6	62.6	42.9	83.5
FEV1/FVC	0.43	0.94	0.69	0.73	0.59	0.78
BMI (kg/m ²)	13.6	30.1	19.3	19.8	17.8	21.0

Table 4: Spirometry parameters and the BMI in the cross-sectional study (n=40)

As with the Brody score, a wide range of PFT results and BMI were found, respectively. Only twelve CF patients had a normal FEV1 value (>80%). Eighteen patients had a Tiffeneau index <0.7, defined as pathological. Nineteen (47.5%) of the forty CF patients had a normal body mass index (BMI, 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m²). Seventeen (42.5%) were underweight (BMI <18.5kg/m²), three (7.5%) were overweight (BMI 25.0 to 29.9 kg/m²), and one (2.5%) patient was adipose (BMI >30.0 kg/m²).

Figure 9 visualises the correlation between the total Brody score and the spirometry parameters, VC and FEV1. The higher the Brody score, the lower the respective VC, FEV1 and Tiffeneau index results (p<0.001). Most Brody sub-scores also showed a statistically highly significant inverse correlation with the spirometry parameters, VC and FEV1, for both observers (for details, see Table 12 in the Appendix). The mucous plugging sub-score raised by O2 did not correlate

with the spirometry parameters, VC, FEV1, or the Tiffeneau index, and the parenchymal opacity sub-score raised by O1 did not correlate with the Tiffeneau index.



Figure 9: Correlation between the total Brody score and the spirometry parameters VC and FEV1 in the cross-sectional study. The total Brody score (grey bars) is displayed on the x-axis in ascending order, and the associated spirometry parameters VC (black squares) and FEV1 (red circles) are displayed on the y-axis. **1** Brody score raised by O1 (Spearman rank correlations, VC: r_s =-0.75; FEV1: r_s =-0.81) **2** Brody score raised by O2 (Spearman rank correlation, VC: r_s =-0.60; FEV1: r_s =-0.69).

A statistically highly significant correlation between the total Brody score and the BMI was found for both observers (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =-0.76, O2: r_s =-0.67, both p<0.001, n=42). The higher the total Brody score of a patient, the lower the BMI at the time. This correlation also applied to the Brody sub-scores (for the exact Spearman rank correlation coefficients see Table 12 in the Appendix). The spirometry parameters also showed a statistically highly significant correlation with the BMI (Spearman rank correlations, VC: r_s =0.69, FEV1: r_s =0.72, p<0.001, n=42), where a higher BMI was associated with better spirometry parameters.

5.1.6 The influence of gender, age, the genetic mutation status, and the examination date in the cross-sectional study

Between the forty-four male and the forty-seven female patients, no statistically significant difference in the Brody score was found (Mann-Whitney-U-test, O1: U=914,5; p>0.05; rank sum females: 2281,5; n=47; rank sum males: 1904,5; n=44; critical value: 377; O2: U=930,5; p>0.05; rank sum females: 2265,5; n=47; rank sum males: 1920,5; n=44; critical value: 377). A complete overview of the Brody score per gender can be found in Table 13 in the Appendix. Within the group of patients having a PFT within two days, no statistically significant difference between the twenty-one female and the nineteen male patients was found for VC, FEV1 or the BMI (Mann-Whitney-U-test, VC: U=173; p>0.05; rank sum females: 457; n=21; rank sum males: 363; n=19; critical value: 126; FEV1: U=170; p>0.05; rank sum females: 460; n=21; rank sum males: 360; n=19; critical value: 126; BMI: U=171; p>0.05; rank sum females: 459; n=21; rank sum males: 361; n=19; critical value: 126). A statistically significant difference was observed for the Tiffeneau index, with the female patients having a slightly higher average value of 0.73 compared to the male patients, who had an average of 0.65 (Mann-Whitney-U-test, U=125; p<0.05; rank sum females: 505; n=21; rank sum males: 315; n=19, critical value: 126).

Within the cross-sectional study, neither the total Brody score (Spearman rank correlations, O1: $r_s=0.10$, p>0.05, n=91; O2: $r_s=0.18$, p>0.05, n=91) nor the BMI or the spirometry parameters correlated with the age of the patients (Spearman rank correlations, VC: $r_s=0.08$, p>0.05, n=40; FEV1: $r_s=-0.17$, p>0.05, n=40; FEV1/FVC: $r_s=-0.18$, p>0.05, n=40; BMI: $r_s=-0.02$, p>0.05, n=40). Also, the specific date of the examination, whether the HRCT-examination was performed at the beginning or at the end of the 20-year period that was examined, did not impact the height of the total Brody score (Spearman rank correlations, O1: $r_s=0.01$, p>0.05, n=91, O2: $r_s=-0.03$, p>0.05, n=91), the spirometry parameters or the BMI (Spearman rank correlations, VC: $r_s=-0.06$, p p>0.05, n=40; FEV1: $r_s=-0.02$, p>0.05, n=40; FEV1/FVC: $r_s=-0.02$, p>0.05, n=40; BMI: $r_s=-0.02$, p>0.05, n=40).

Figure 10 displays the Brody score divided according to the different genetic mutations of the CF patients. Due to the small sample size of patients with other genetic mutations (six patients), only the groups of Δ -F-508 homozygous and -heterozygous CF patients were compared. In both cases (scored by O1 and O2), no statistically significant difference between those two groups could be found (Mann-Whitney-U-test, O1: U=499; p>0.05; rank sum Δ -F-508 homozygous patients: 1298; n=39; rank sum Δ -F-508 heterozygous patients: 877; n=27; critical value: 204; O2: U= 490; p>0.05; rank sum Δ -F-508 homozygous patients: 1270; n=39; rank sum Δ -F-508 heterozygous patients: 1270; n=39; rank s



Figure 10: The influence of the genetic mutation on the Brody score in the cross-sectional study. The respective numbers of patients carrying the different genetic mutations were as follows: thirty-nine homozygous (blue boxes) and twenty-seven Δ -F-508 heterozygous (green boxes) carriers of the Δ -F-508 mutation, six patients with other genetic mutations (red boxes) and nineteen patients in whom the genetic mutation was unknown (yellow boxes). The different genetic mutations were shown in box-and-shisker plots for each of the two observers, O1 and O2.

5.2 Results of the Cohort Study

5.2.1 Descriptive Statistic of the CF patients in the cohort study

Eleven female and eighteen male CF patients were included in the retrospective cohort study. The age of the CF patients at the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examinations as well as the genetic mutation status is displayed in Table 5. There was no relevant difference in age between females and males. Twenty-six CF patients (90%) presented at least one Δ -F-508 mutation.

		total	female	male
n		29	11	18
Age at initial HRCT-	lowest	15.6	15.9	15.6
examination (years)	highest	21.3	21.3	21.1
	mean	18.8	18.6	18.8
	median	18.9	18.5	19.1
Age at follow-up HRCT-	lowest	18.6	19.8	18.6
examination (years)	highest	26.0	25.2	26.0
	mean	22.8	22.5	22.9
	median	23.4	23.2	23.4
Interval between initial	lowest	2.9	2.9	2.9
examination (years)	highest	5.3	4.9	5.3
	mean	4.0	3.9	4.1
	median	4.0	4.0	4.2
Genetic mutation	∆-F-508 homozygote	17	6	11
	Δ -F-508 heterozygote	9	4	5
	other	1	0	1
	unknown	2	1	1

Table 5: Patient demographics in the cohort study



5.2.2 The Brody score in the cohort study

Figure 11: Comparison of the respective Brody scores of the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examinations. CT1 stands for the initial HRCT-examination performed at the age of sixteen to twenty-two years; CT2 stands for the follow-up HRCT-examination four years later. **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2. The total Brody score (grey boxes) and its respective sub-scores for bronchiectasis (blue boxes), mucous plugging (purple boxes), peribronchial thickening (yellow boxes), parenchymal opacity (red boxes), and hyperinflation (green boxes) are shown in box-and-shisker-plots for each of the two observers, O1 and O2.

As seen in Figure 11, the total Brody score presented a higher range and maximum values in the follow-up examination. The follow-up examination results were significantly higher than the initial examination results (O1 & O2: p<0.001, each, n= 29, Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, no ties). The same change is also visible for the bronchiectasis sub-score (O1: p<0.01; O2: p<0.001, each, n= 28, Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, considering ties). For the sub-scores peribronchial thickening and hyperinflation, a statistically significant increase was found only by O2 (O2: peribronchial thickening p<0.05, n= 29, hyperinflation: p<0.05, n= 26; O1: peribronchial thickening p>0.05, n= 29, rank sum: 163, critical value: 126, hyperinflation p>0.05, n= 23, rank sum: 148, critical value: 73, Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, considering ties). The remaining sub-scores mucous plugging and parenchymal opacity did not show a statistically significant difference between the initial and follow-up examinations (O1: mucous plugging p>0.05, n= 28, rank sum: 211, critical value: 116, parenchymal opacity p>0.05, n= 22, rank sum: 85, critical value: 65; O2: mucous plugging p>0.05, n=27, rank sum: 173, critical value: 107, parenchymal opacity p>0.05, n= 28, rank sum: 175, critical value: 116, Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, considering ties).



Figure 12: Composition of the respective total Brody scores and its five sub-scores for the initial HRCT-examinations as assessed by two independent observers (O1, O2). The total Brody score composed of its respective sub-scores bronchiectasis (blue bars), mucous plugging (purple bars), peribronchial thickening (yellow bars), parenchymal opacity (red bars), and hyperinflation (green bars) is displayed on the x-axis in ascending order. **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2.



Bronchiectasis Mucous plugging Peribronchial thickening Parenchymal opacity Hyperinflation

Figure 13: Composition of the respective total Brody scores and its five sub-scores for the follow-up HRCT-examinations as assessed by two independent observers (O1, O2). The total Brody score composed of its respective sub-scores bronchiectasis (blue bars), mucous plugging (purple bars), peribronchial thickening (yellow bars), parenchymal opacity (red bars), and hyperinflation (green bars) is displayed on the x-axis in ascending order. **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2.

Figure 12 and Figure 13 display the composition of the total Brody score out of its five sub-scores for the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examinations. It is noticeable that there are nearly no low scores in the follow-up examination compared to the initial examination. As seen in Figure 13, this is primarily due to the increase of the sub-scores bronchiectasis, mucous plugging, and peribronchial thickening. The exact values of the Brody score and its respective sub-scores for the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examination can be found in Table 14 and Table 15 in the Appendix.

In the scores raised by O1, nineteen patients showed an increase of their score by an average of 29.82 points, nine patients showed an average decrease of 19.19 points, and one patient had the same total Brody score in both examinations. For O2, there were twenty-two patients with an average increase of 41.11 points and seven patients with an average decrease of 10.96 points of their total Brody score. The exact values of the Brody score changes can be found in Table 16 in the Appendix.



..... Linear (Δ total Brody score (O1)) ---- Linear (Δ total Brody score (O2))

Figure 14: Total Brody score changes as a function of the initial total Brody score. The initial Brody scores are displayed on the x-axis, and the differences in Brody-scoring results between the subsequent and the initial HRCT-examination are displayed on the y-axis for O1 (black crosses) and O2 (black circles).

As Figure 14 graphically illustrates, the change of the Brody score is inversely correlated with the initial Brody score. The lower the initial score, the higher the increase in the Brody score (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =-0.60, p<0.001, n=29; O2: r_s =-0.39, p<0.05, n=29). Decreases in the Brody score were only found in patients with a medium or high initial score. To investigate potential differences between patients with an initial low score and those with an initial high score, the group was divided into two subgroups based on the median value of the initial Brody score. The median value for the entire group was 64.75 points scored by O1 and 79 points scored by O2. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to examine the difference in Brody score change was observed only for O1 (Mann-Whitney-U-test, O1: U=46, p<0.05, rank sum CF patients with lower initial score: 269, n=14; rank sum CF patients with higher initial score: 241.5, n=14; rank sum CF patients with lower initial score: 241.5, n=14; rank sum CF patients with lower initial score: 241.5, n=14; rank sum CF patients with higher initial score: 269).



Figure 15: Brody sub-score changes as a function of the initial sub-score values. The initial Brody sub-score results for bronchiectasis (blue circles), mucous plugging (purple circles), peribronchial thickening (yellow circles), parenchymal opacity (red circles), and hyperinflation (green circles) are displayed on the x-axis. The differences in Brody sub-scoring results between the subsequent and the initial HRCT-examination are displayed on the y-axis **1** raised by O1 **2** raised by O2.

Figure 15 graphically illustrates the changes of the Brody sub-scores based on the initial subscore values. The changes in the sub-scores on bronchiectasis (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =-0.43, p<0.05, n=29; O2: r_s =-0.48, p<0.01, n=29), mucous plugging (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =-0.77, p<0.001, n=29; O2: r_s =-0.72, p<0.001, n=29), peribronchial thickening (Spearman rank correlations, O2: r_s =-0.69, p<0.001, n=29; O2: r_s =-0.38, p<0.05, n=29), and, for O2 only, parenchymal opacity (Spearman rank correlations, O2: r_s =-0.49, p<0.01, n=29) inversely correlated with the initial sub-score values. The changes in the sub-scores on parenchymal opacity, raised by O1 (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =-0.33, p>0.05, n=29), and hyperinflation (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =-0.32, p>0.05, n=29; O2: r_s =-0.10, p>0.05, n=29) did not statistically significantly correlate with the initial sub-score values.

5.2.3 Sample patient in the cohort study

Figure 16 shows HRCT-images of a Δ -F-508 heterozygous female patient with advanced CF-related pulmonary damage. Structural impairments of the lungs were already apparent in the initial HRCT-examination.



Figure 16: Example of changes of CF-related lung morphology over four years. Upper panel, **1** HRCT-images of a 20.1-year-old female CF sample patient **a** 5 cm above tracheal carina **b** at the level of tracheal carina **c** 5 cm below tracheal carina, lower panel, **2** CT scan of the same patient 4.0 years later at the age of 24.1 **a** 5 cm above tracheal carina **b** at the level of tracheal carina.

O1 assigned a total Brody score of 58.75 points, while O2 allocated 84 points. The PFT results were 54.8% for VC, 33.0% for FEV1, and 0.52 for the Tiffeneau index. The follow-up examination after 4.0 years showed increased CF-related pulmonary changes, particularly bronchiectasis and peribronchial thickening. This worsening resulted in a total Brody score of 141.50 points by O1, more than a doubling of the initial Brody score (+141%), and 120 points by O2, corresponding to an increase of 43 % from the initial Brody score. Both observers found increases for all five subscores (see Table 6). The vital capacity slightly worsened over time with 50.8%. The Tiffeneau index stayed almost unchanged at 0.56. The FEV1, though, improved with 51.1%.

		initial HRCT- examination	follow-up HRCT- examination	change
Total Brody score	01	58.75	141.50	82.75
	02	84.00	120.00	36.00
Bronchiectasis	01	29.75	54.00	24.25
	02	35.50	55.00	19.50
Mucous plugging	01	6.00	22.00	16.00
	02	18.00	24.00	6.00
Peribronchial thickening	01	15.00	42.50	27.50
	02	21.50	25.00	3.50
Parenchymal opacity	01	0.00	7.00	7.00
	02	8.00	15.00	7.00
Hyperinflation	01	8.00	16.00	8.00
	02	1.00	1.00	0.00

Table 6: The Brody score for the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examination a	nd its
change of a female CF sample patient (see Fig. 16)	

5.2.4 PFTs and the BMI in the cohort study

Among the twenty-nine patients in the cohort study, twelve (41%) had a PFT within two days of their initial HRCT-examination, and twenty-three (79%) within two days of their follow-up HRCT-examination, respectively. Table 17 and Table 18 in the Appendix show a complete overview of the respective spirometry parameters for the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examination.

The spirometry parameters VC and FEV1 correlated inversely with the total Brody score for the initial and the follow-up examination, graphically illustrated in Figure 17 and Figure 18. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficients for the correlations between the total Brody score, the spirometry parameters VC and FEV1, the Tiffeneau index, and the BMI can be found in Table 19 in the Appendix. Among those twelve patients, who had a PFT within two days of each the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examination, seven patients showed a worsening, and five patients showed an improvement of their spirometry parameters. One half had a lower, and the other half had a higher BMI at the follow-up examination. There was no statistically significant change of the spirometry parameters over time (VC: p>0.05, n= 12, rank sum: 33, critical value: 13; FEV1: p>0.05, n= 12, rank sum: 33, critical value: 13, Wilcoxon-test for matched pairs, no ties). Table 20 shows a complete overview of the change of the spirometry parameters, including the BMI, in the Appendix.



Figure 17: Associated spirometry parameters at the respective time of the initial HRCT-examination. The total Brody score (grey bars) is displayed on the x-axis in ascending order, and the associated spirometry parameters VC (black squares) and FEV1 (red circles) are displayed on the y-axis. **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2.



Figure 18: Associated spirometry parameters at the respective time of the follow-up HRCTexamination. The total Brody score (grey bars) is displayed on the x-axis in ascending order, and the associated spirometry parameters VC (black squares) and FEV1 (red circles) are displayed on the y-axis. **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2.



Figure 19: Brody score chances with the associated changes of the spirometry parameters VC and FEV1. The Brody score changes are displayed on the x-axis in ascending order with, if available, the associated changes of the spirometry parameters VC (black squares) and FEV1 (red circles). **1** Brody score raised by O1 **2** Brody score raised by O2.

Figure 19 illustrates the changes of the total Brody score out of its respective sub-scores, together with the associated changes of the spirometry parameters, VC and FEV1, if available. The increase of the total Brody score depends primarily on the increase of the sub-scores bronchiectasis, mucous plugging, and peribronchial thickening. The decrease of some of the total Brody scores can be mainly ascribed to the decrease of the sub-scores mucous plugging and peribronchial thickening, as well as the sub-score bronchiectasis for those scored by O1. There was no statistically significant correlation between the change of the Brody score and the change of the spirometry parameters, neither for the VC (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =0.45, p>0.05, n=12; O2: r_s =0.13, p>0.05, n=12), nor for the Tiffeneau index (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s =0.42, p>0.05, n=12; O2: r_s =0.13, p>0.05, n=12).

5.2.5 The influence of gender, the genetic mutation status, and the examination date in the cohort study

There were no statistically significant differences in Brody score changes between men and women (Mann-Whitney-U-test, O1: U=62; p>0.05; rank sum females: 202; n=11; rank sum males: 233; n=18, critical value: 55; O2: U=83,5; p>0.05; rank sum females: 180,5; n=11; rank sum males: 254,5; n=18, critical value: 55) or between Δ -F-508-homozygous and heterozygous CF patients (Mann-Whitney-U-test, O1: U=53; p>0.05; rank sum Δ -F-508 homozygous patients: 206; n=17; rank sum Δ -F-508 heterozygous patients: 145; n=9, critical value: 39; O2: U= 61; p>0.05; rank sum Δ -F-508 homozygous patients: 214; n=17; rank sum Δ -F-508 heterozygous patients: 137; n=9, critical value: 39). Also, the magnitude of change was not dependent on the date of the initial HRCT-examination (Spearman rank correlations, O1: r_s=0.06, p>0.05, n=29; O2: r_s=0.20, p>0.05, n=29).

6. Discussion

6.1 The state of disease of young adults suffering from CF

The retrospective cross-sectional study revealed a wide range of pulmonary damages on HRCTimages of the lungs in young adult CF patients, with the Brody score ranging between 0 and 144 (O1) / 175 (O2) points. The associated spirometry parameters VC, FEV1 and the Tiffeneau presented a heterogenous distribution as well. The BMI and the associated spirometry parameters VC, FEV1 and the Tiffeneau index showed excellent correlations with the Brody score on a statistically highly significant level (p<0.001). The disease severity did not depend on the CF patients' gender or genetic mutation status.

The patient collective of the cross-sectional study is unique since no other study ever solely focused on young adults. Most studies only concentrate on young children [15, 65, 66] or adult patients aged 17 or 18 and above with no upper limit [15, 67]. With ninety-one patients, the patient collective is comparably large considering the small age range from sixteen to twenty-two years [65, 66]. All in all, the patient collective appears to be a representative cross-section of general CF patients. As in many other studies [42, 67], the gender distribution was close to 50:50 since cystic fibrosis is independent of gender. 92% of the CF patients with a known genetic mutation status were homozygote or heterozygote carriers of the Δ -F-508 mutation, which is a typical distribution for Germany and other European countries [4-6, 67]. Also, it is common that over 80% of adult CF patients exhibit an abnormal FEV1 [67].

As expected, a high variability of the state of disease was found within the group of young adult CF patients. This heterogeneity is not only common in adult CF patients [68] but was already observed in young children aged one to six [65]. Potential confounding by age or the HRCT-examination date was eliminated through statistical testing. The high variability of the state of disease could be ascribed to inter-individual differences in therapy adherence among young CF patients since the course of the disease depends mainly on optimal therapy adherence [22]. Another influence might be the difference in socioeconomic status of the CF patients with a higher socioeconomic status being linked to a longer median survival [69-72]. Comparing the groups of Δ -F-508 homozygous and -heterozygous CF patients, a significant influence of the genetic mutation status on the state of disease was not detected. Similar results were also found in previous studies, where the genetic mutation status appeared to have only little or no effect on the state of disease [15, 73]. In accordance with the available studies, the gender of the CF patients revealed no influence on the state of disease considering HRCTs and PFTs [74-78].

In the evaluation of the HRCT-examinations using the Brody score, the most frequent pulmonary changes were bronchiectasis, followed by peribronchial thickening and mucous plugging. This is consistent with the results of many other studies using the Brody score or other HRCT scoring systems [14, 15, 21, 65, 79-83]. However, bronchiectasis is not only the most frequent but also the most important pulmonary change in predicting the quality of life of CF patients [79, 80, 84]. Among all Brody subscores, bronchiectasis also presented the best correlations with spirometry

parameters VC, FEV1 and the Tiffeneau index on statistically highly significant levels (p<0.001) [82, 85]. Nevertheless, almost all Brody subscores as well as the composite total Brody score correlated with the PFT results, which has already been proven in several other studies [11, 15, 18, 19, 21, 54, 82, 85, 86]. Since the state of disease of CF patients can change rapidly due to exacerbations or pulmonary infections, associated PFTs were only considered when performed within two days of the HRCT-examination to minimize potential bias.

A secondary outcome of the cross-sectional study was the interobserver reproducibility of the Brody score. Excellent interobserver reproducibility was found as already proven in several studies [34, 43, 52]. Equal interobserver reproducibility can also be found when comparing the scores of qualified with nonqualified observers [87] as happened in this study. These findings do not only support the Brody score as an adequate scoring system but also objectify this study's scoring results and make them more reliable.

6.2 The course of disease of CF patients in early adulthood

The retrospective cohort study revealed a high dependency between the initial state of disease and the magnitude of change in pulmonary damages of young adult CF patients within four years. While CF patients with advanced structural impairment of their lungs at their initial HRCTexamination showed little progress or even improvements, CF patients with initially low-grade disease severity and limited pulmonary changes showed a strong progression of their pulmonary damages. The associated spirometry parameters did not show a statistically significant change over the four years. The course of disease did not depend on the gender or the genetic mutation status of the CF patients.

Monitoring the course of disease in young adult CF patients is especially interesting since they are situated at the transition point from paediatric to adult healthcare. This transition is a very vulnerable chapter in the lives of CF patients and can strongly influence the future course of disease [88-91]. Especially since young adults tend to have less disease knowledge than their parents as well as poor awareness of the consequences of risky behaviour, getting more independent from their parents might have a negative effect on their future course of disease [26, 28, 29, 31, 49]. When comparing the initial and the follow-up HRCT-examinations of those young adults, an inverse correlation was found between the initial state of disease and the magnitude of change in pulmonary damage. Potential confounding by age or the HRCT-examination date in this study was eliminated through statistical testing. This inverse correlation between the initial state of disease and the magnitude of change could be explained by the fact, that patients suffering from fewer symptoms tend to have lower therapy adherence than patients with higher disease severity [28].

When comparing the initial and the follow-up HRCT examinations, bronchiectasis, followed by peribronchial thickening and mucous plugging, played the biggest role in the progression of pulmonary damages, both in CF patients with initially low-grade and high-grade disease severity [33, 90, 92]. As with the total Brody score, the subscores bronchiectasis, peribronchial thickening and mucous plugging revealed an inverse correlation between their initial appearance and their

magnitude of change. Improvements in pulmonary changes were exclusively found in patients with initially high-grade disease severity and were mostly ascribed less presence or less severe appearance of bronchiectasis, peribronchial thickening, and mucous plugging.

Improvements in the subscore bronchiectasis were not found in the same patients by the two observers. Therefore, it cannot be assumed that there was a real improvement, but rather individual errors in scoring [43]. Although improvements in the appearance of bronchiectasis have already been found in other studies [33], these results must be viewed very critically, as bronchiectasis by definition represents irreversible pulmonary damage [33]. Improvements in the subscores peribronchial thickening and mucous plugging may have resulted from the possibility, that the initial HRCT-examination may have taken place during pulmonary infections or acute aggravation [85]. This possible bias cannot be excluded since the purpose of the HRCT-examinations was not considered during the selection process.

As in many other studies, the cohort study revealed no significant change of the spirometry parameters VC, FEV1, or the Tiffeneau index despite significant changes in pulmonary damages seen on HRCT-examinations [33, 39, 90, 92-95]. Some patients even showed improvements in PFTs despite progressive pulmonary damage [17, 33]. This could be explained by the fact, that HRCT is known to be more sensitive in detecting pulmonary changes than PFTs [11-13, 18, 33-35]. For that reason, HRCT-examinations play a significant role in monitoring CF patients [16].

Most studies describe a strong progression of pulmonary damages in female CF patients with consecutive higher mortality, which is mostly ascribed to less therapy adherence in female CF patients [79, 90, 96, 97]. However, this study did not reveal a significant difference in the course of disease between men and women. This lack of conformity might be ascribed to the comparably small patient collective including only twenty-nine patients. The unequal distribution with 62% of the CF patients in the cohort study being male might also be held accountable. A few studies describe a connection between the magnitude of change in pulmonary damage and the genetic mutation status of CF patients [97-99]. This dependency could not be determined despite the high proportion of known mutations in the cohort study (93%). Again, this divergence might be ascribed to the comparably small patient collective.

6.3 Limitations

The cross-sectional and the cohort study are beset with five limitations.

First, the external validity of the results from the cross-sectional and the cohort study is limited since the patient collectives of both studies originated from a single centre, the "Interdisziplinäres Mukoviszidose Zentrum des Klinikums der Universität München", in Germany. Even though the centre is the largest one of its kind in Germany [10, 50], the results can only be applied to CF patients within similar healthcare systems since the socioeconomic state influences therapy adherence, disease severity and mortality of CF patients [70-72].

Second, during the retrospective recruiting time from 1998 to 2018, the CT images were obtained from various CT scanners with varying slice thicknesses, including some multidetector computed

tomography (MDCT) and incremental CT images. Due to the different CT scanners and protocols over the years, there is a wide range of radiation exposure values, which is why statistical values like median, mean, and standard deviations could not be determined. In the more recent HRCT-examinations, the radiation dose was kept as low as possible without quality loss [100-102]. A significant influence of the different CT scanners or slice thicknesses on the study results is not assumed since other studies on patients suffering from different pulmonary damaging diseases revealed a high intermodal reproducibility [103, 104]. However, a certain influence of the different device technologies on the quality of CT images and thus the image evaluation cannot be ruled out.

Third, the purpose of the HRCT-examinations was not considered during the selection process for both studies. Ideally, the HRCT-examinations were intended to serve as an initial state of pulmonary disease and as a routine follow-up. However, the HRCT-examination could also have been performed due to pulmonary infections or acute aggravation. These possible biases were not considered in the evaluation.

Fourth, small changes in the total brody score and its subscores might be linked to inaccuracies caused by the observers, despite a high intra-observer reproducibility [43]. This can explain the small improvements of the subscore bronchiectasis, which by definition is an irreversible pulmonary damage [33].

Last, the size of the patient collective in the cohort study might have been influenced by the fact that additional HRCT-examinations are usually performed if there are indications of progress or aggravation [43]. Therefore, CF patients with a more rapid progression of their disease might have needed another HRCT-examination within less than three years, shifting the whole 4-year follow-up cycle. This would not satisfy the inclusion criteria of the second examination being within 2.9 to 5.3 years after the initial HRCT-examination. Such a scenario could also influence the results of the cohort study as CF patients with a more rapid disease progression might not be included.

7. Conclusion

Overall, the studies at hand show that young adult CF patients exhibit a wide range of pulmonary damages on HRCT-images as well as a heterogeneous distribution of the associated spirometry parameters. While CF patients with initially high-grade disease severity showed little progress or even improvements, those with initially low-grade disease severity showed a strong progression of their pulmonary damages. The associated spirometry parameters did not show a statistically significant change. Neither the disease severity nor the course of disease did depend on the CF patients' gender or genetic mutation status.

For clinical practice, treating physicians should be aware of a heterogeneous state of disease among young adult CF patients transferring to adult healthcare. When monitoring CF patients, those with comparably low-grade disease severity should not be disregarded, as rapid deterioration of their state of disease must be expected.

Future research should focus on analysing the possible influences of the genetic mutation status as well as the patient's compliance during childhood on the resulting state of disease. Lastly, the impact of different monitoring procedures between CF patients with initially low and high-grade disease severity should be analysed.

8. References

- 1. Orenti, A., Zolin, A., Jung, A., and van Rens, J. 2019. *EECFSPR Annual Report*. accessed 13.08.2022; Available from: http://www.ecfs.eu/ecfspr.
- 2. Dorfman, R. 2011. *Cystic Fibrosis Mutation Database*. accessed 13.08.2022; Available from: http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/StatisticsPage.html.
- 3. Bareil, C., and Bergougnoux, A., 2020. *CFTR Gene Variants, Epidemiology and Molecular Pathology.* Archives de Pédiatrie. **27**: pp. 8-12 DOI: 10.1016/S0929-693X(20)30044-0.
- 4. Estivill, X., Bancells, C., and Ramos, C., 1997. *Geographic Distribution and Regional Origin of 272 Cystic Fibrosis Mutations in European Populations. The Biomed CF Mutation Analysis Consortium.* Human Mutation. **10**: pp. 135-154 DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1004(1997)10:2<135::AID-HUMU6>3.0.CO;2-J.
- 5. Bobadilla, J.L., Macek, M., Jr., Fine, J.P., and Farrell, P.M., 2002. *Cystic Fibrosis: A Worldwide Analysis of CFTR Mutations Correlation With Incidence Data and Application to Screening.* Human Mutation. **19**: pp. 575-606 DOI: 10.1002/humu.10041.
- 6. Tsui, L.-C., 1992. *The Spectrum of Cystic Fibrosis Mutations.* Trends in Genetics. **8**: pp. 392-398 DOI: 10.1016/0168-9525(92)90301-J.
- 7. Collins, F.S., 1992. *Cystic Fibrosis: Molecular Biology and Therapeutic Implications.* Science. **256**: pp. 774-779 DOI: 10.1126/science.256.5058.77.
- 8. Mickle, J.E., and Cutting, G.R., 2000. *Genotype-Phenotype Relationships in Cystic Fibrosis*. Medical Clinics of North America. **84**: pp. 597-607 DOI: 10.1016/S0025-7125(05)70243-1.
- 9. Brody, A.S., 2004. Early Morphologic Changes in the Lungs of Asymptomatic Infants and Young Children With Cystic Fibrosis. The Journal of Pediatrics. **144**: pp. 145-146 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2003.11.008.
- 10. mukoinfo.de. 2022. *Muko.info*. accessed 13.08.2022; Available from: https://www.muko.info.
- 11. Brody, A.S., Klein, J.S., Molina, P.L., Quan, J., Bean, J.A., and Wilmott, R.W., 2004. *High-Resolution Computed Tomography in Young Patients With Cystic Fibrosis: Distribution of Abnormalities and Correlation With Pulmonary Function Tests.* The Journal of Pediatrics. **145**: pp. 32-38 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.02.038.
- 12. Robinson, T.E., 2007. *Imaging of the Chest in Cystic Fibrosis.* Clinics in Chest Medicine. **28**: pp. 405-421 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccm.2007.02.012.
- 13. Santamaria, F., Grillo, G., Guidi, G., Rotondo, A., Raia, V., de Ritis, G., Sarnelli, P., Caterino, M., and Greco, L., 1998. *Cystic Fibrosis: When Should High-Resolution Computed Tomography of the Chest Be Obtained?* Pediatrics. **101**: pp. 908-913 DOI: 10.1542/peds.101.5.908.
- Maffessanti, M., Candusso, M., Brizzi, F., and Piovesana, F., 1996. *Cystic Fibrosis in Children: HRCT Findings and Distribution of Disease.* Journal of Thoracic Imaging. 11: pp. 27-38 DOI: 10.1097/00005382-199601110-00002.
- Helbich, T.H., Heinz-Peer, G., Eichler, I., Wunderbaldinger, P., Götz, M., and Wojnarowski, C., 1999. *Cystic Fibrosis: CT Assessment of Lung Involvement in Children* and Adults. Radiology. **213**: pp. 537-544 DOI: 10.1148/radiology.213.2.r99nv04537.
- 16. Rybacka, A., and Karmelita-Katulska, K., 2016. *The Role of Computed Tomography in Monitoring Patients with Cystic Fibrosis.* Polish Journal of Radiology. **81**: pp. 141-145 DOI: 10.12659/PJR.896051.
- 17. Corey, M., Levison, H., and Crozier, D., 1976. *Five- to Seven-Year Course of Pulmonary Function in Cystic Fibrosis*. American Review of Respiratory Disease. **114**: pp. 1085-1092 DOI: 10.1164/arrd.1976.114.6.1085.
- Demirkazık, F.B., Arıyürek, O.M., Özçelik, U., Göçmen, A., Hassanabad, H.K., and Kiper, N., 2001. *High Resolution CT in Children With Cystic Fibrosis: Correlation With Pulmonary Functions and Radiographic Scores*. European Journal of Radiology. **37**: pp. 54-59 DOI: 10.1016/S0720-048X(00)00236-9.
- 19. Pereira, F.F.L., Ibiapina, C., Alvim, C.G., Camargos, P.A.M., Figueiredo, R., and Pedrosa, J.F., 2014. *Correlation Between Bhalla Score and Spirometry in Children and Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis.* Revista da Associação Médica Brasileira. **60**: pp. 216-221 DOI: 10.1590/1806-9282.60.03.009.
- Tiddens, H.A.W.M., 2006. Chest Computed Tomography Scans Should Be Considered as a Routine Investigation in Cystic Fibrosis. Paediatric Respiratory Reviews. 7: pp. 202-208 DOI: 10.1016/j.prrv.2006.04.002.

- 21. Khalilzadeh, S., Kahkouee, S., Hassanzad, M., Parsanejad, N., Baghaie, N., and Bloorsa, M.R., 2011. *The Correlation of Brody High Resolution Computed Tomography Scoring System With Clinical Status and Pulmonary Function Test in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis.* Iranian Journal of Medical Sciences. **36**: pp. 18-23.
- 22. O'Toole, D.P.H., Latchford, G.J., Duff, A.J.A., Ball, R., McCormack, P., McNamara, P.S., Brownlee, K.G., and Southern, K.W., 2019. *Adherence to Aerosol Therapy in Young People With Cystic Fibrosis: Patient and Parent Perspectives Following Electronic Data Capture.* Qualitative Health Research. **29**: pp. 846-856 DOI: 10.1177/1049732318805754.
- 23. Quittner, A.L., Zhang, J., Marynchenko, M., Chopra, P.A., Signorovitch, J., Yushkina, Y., and Riekert, K.A., 2014. *Pulmonary Medication Adherence and Health-care Use in Cystic Fibrosis.* Chest. **146**: pp. 142-151 DOI: 10.1378/chest.13-1926.
- Sawicki, G.S., Sellers, D.E., and Robinson, W.M., 2009. *High Treatment Burden in Adults With Cystic Fibrosis: Challenges to Disease Self-Management.* Journal of Cystic Fibrosis.
 8: pp. 91-96 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2008.09.007.
- 25. Modi, A.C., and Quittner, A.L., 2006. *Barriers to Treatment Adherence for Children with Cystic Fibrosis and Asthma: What Gets in the Way?* Journal of Pediatric Psychology. **31**: pp. 846-858 DOI: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsj096.
- 26. Sawicki, G.S., Heller, K.S., Demars, N., and Robinson, W.M., 2015. *Motivating Adherence Among Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis: Youth and Parent Perspectives.* Pediatric Pulmonology. **50**: pp. 127-136 DOI: 10.1002/ppul.23017.
- Briesacher, B.A., Quittner, A.L., Fouayzi, H., Zhang, J., and Swensen, A., 2011. Nationwide Trends in the Medical Care Costs of Privately Insured Patients With Cystic Fibrosis (CF), 2001–2007. Pediatric Pulmonology. 46: pp. 770-776 DOI: 10.1002/ppul.21441.
- 28. Dziuban, E.J., Saab-Abazeed, L., Chaudhry, S.R., Streetman, D.S., and Nasr, S.Z., 2010. *Identifying Barriers to Treatment Adherence and Related Attitudinal Patterns in Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis.* Pediatric Pulmonology. **45**: pp. 450-458 DOI: 10.1002/ppul.21195.
- 29. Faint, N.R., Staton, J.M., Stick, S.M., Foster, J.M., and Schultz, A., 2017. *Investigating Self-Efficacy, Disease Knowledge and Adherence to Treatment in Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis.* Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health. **53**: pp. 488-493 DOI: 10.1111/jpc.13458.
- 30. Oddleifson, D.A., and Sawicki, G.S., 2017. *Adherence and Recursive Perception Among Young Adults with Cystic Fibrosis.* Anthropology & Medicine. **24**: pp. 65-80 DOI: 10.1080/13648470.2017.1278865.
- Bowmer, G., Latchford, G., Duff, A., Denton, M., Dye, L., Lawton, C., and Lee, T., 2017. Adherence to Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines: A Vignette-Based Study of Decision-Making and Risk-Taking in Young Adults With Cystic Fibrosis. Journal of Cystic Fibrosis. 16: pp. 146-150 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2016.09.001.
- 32. Döring, G., and Hoiby, N., 2004. *Early Intervention and Prevention of Lung Disease in Cystic Fibrosis: A European Consensus.* Journal of Cystic Fibrosis. **3**: pp. 67-91 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2004.03.008.
- 33. de Jong, P.A., Nakano, Y., Lequin, M.H., Mayo, J.R., Woods, R., Paré, P.D., and Tiddens, H.A.W.M., 2004. *Progressive Damage on High Resolution Computed Tomography Despite Stable Lung Function in Cystic Fibrosis.* European Respiratory Journal. **23**: pp. 93-97 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.03.00006603.
- 34. Calder, A.D., Bush, A., Brody, A.S., and Owens, C.M., 2014. *Scoring of Chest CT in Children With Cystic Fibrosis: State of the Art.* Pediatric Radiology. **44**: pp. 1496-1506 DOI: 10.1007/s00247-013-2867-y.
- 35. Aziz, Z.A., Davies, J.C., Alton, E.W., Wells, A.U., Geddes, D.M., and Hansell, D.M., 2007. *Computed Tomography and Cystic Fibrosis: Promises and Problems.* Thorax. **62**: pp. 181-186 DOI: 10.1136/thx.2005.054379.
- Nährlich, L., Stuhrmann-Spangenbergf, M., Barbeno, J., Bargoni, J., Blankensteind, O., Bremern, W., Brunsmannn, F., Buchholzj, T., Ellemunterm, H., Fuschh, C., Gembruchg, U., Hammermanna, J., Jacobeitb, J., Junga, A., Keimk, V., Loffc, S., Mayre, S., Pfeiffer-Aulern, S., Rossil, R., Sitter, H., Sternm, M., Straßburgk, C., and Derichsa, N., *S2-Konsensus-Leitlinie "Diagnose der Mukoviszidose"*, D.G.f.r.P.d. Pneumologie, Editor. 2013: AWMF online.
- 37. Müllera, F.M., Bendb, J., and Rietschelc, E., *S3-Leitlinie "Lungenerkrankung bei Mukoviszidose"*. 2014: AWMF online.
- 38. Smyth, A.R., Bell, S.C., Bojcin, S., Bryon, M., Duff, A., Flume, P., Kashirskaya, N., Munck, A., Ratjen, F., Schwarzenberg, S.J., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Southern, K.W., Taccetti, G.,

Ullrich, G., and Wolfe, S., 2014. *European Cystic Fibrosis Society Standards of Care: Best Practice Guidelines.* Journal of Cystic Fibrosis. **13**: pp. 23-42 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2014.03.010.

- 39. de Jong, P.A., Lindblad, A., Rubin, L., Hop, W.C., de Jongste, J.C., Brink, M., and Tiddens, H.A., 2006. *Progression of Lung Disease on Computed Tomography and Pulmonary Function Tests in Children and Adults With Cystic Fibrosis.* Thorax. **61**: pp. 80-85 DOI: 10.1136/thx.2005.045146.
- 40. Loeve, M., Gerbrands, K., Hop, W.C., Rosenfeld, M., Hartmann, I.C., and Tiddens, H.A., 2011. *Bronchiectasis and Pulmonary Exacerbations in Children and Young Adults With Cystic Fibrosis.* Chest. **140**: pp. 178-185 DOI: 10.1378/chest.10-1152.
- 41. Fuchs, S.I., Gappa, M., Eder, J., Unsinn, K.M., Steinkamp, G., and Ellemunter, H., 2014. *Tracking Lung Clearance Index and Chest CT in Mild Cystic Fibrosis Lung Disease Over a Period of Three Years.* Respiratory Medicine. **108**: pp. 865-874 DOI: 10.1016/j.rmed.2014.03.011.
- 42. Helbich, T.H., Heinz-Peer, G., Fleischmann, D., Wojnarowski, C., Wunderbaldinger, P., Huber, S., Eichler, I., and Herold, C.J., 1999. *Evolution of CT Findings in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis*. American Journal of Roentgenology. **173**: pp. 81-88 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.173.1.10397104.
- 43. Weber, K., Paolini, M., Schmitz, M., Fischer, R., Coppenrath, E., Huber, R., Reiser, M., and Mueller-Lisse, U.G., 2014. *Cystic Fibrosis in Adults: Short-Term and Long-Term Reproducibility of the Brody Score for Lung Morphology in Low-Dose MDCT Scans.* RöFo. **186**: pp. 54-60 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1350297.
- 44. O'Connell, O.J., McWilliams, S., McGarrigle, A., O'Connor, O.J., Shanahan, F., Mullane, D., Eustace, J., Maher, M.M., and Plant, B.J., 2012. *Radiologic Imaging in Cystic Fibrosis: Cumulative Effective Dose and Changing Trends Over 2 Decades.* Chest. **141**: pp. 1575-1583 DOI: 10.1378/chest.11-1972.
- 45. Donadieu, J., Roudier, C., Saguintaah, M., Maccia, C., and Chiron, R., 2007. *Estimation of the Radiation Dose From Thoracic CT Scans in a Cystic Fibrosis Population.* Chest. **132**: pp. 1233-1238 DOI: 10.1378/chest.07-0221.
- 46. de Jong, P.A., Mayo, J.R., Golmohammadi, K., Nakano, Y., Lequin, M.H., Tiddens, H.A.W.M., Aldrich, J., Coxson, H.O., and Sin, D.D., 2006. *Estimation of Cancer Mortality Associated With Repetitive Computed Tomography Scanning*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. **173**: pp. 199-203 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200505-810OC
- 47. de González, A.B., Kim, K.P., and Samet, J.M., 2007. *Radiation-Induced Cancer Risk From Annual Computed Tomography for Patients With Cystic Fibrosis.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. **176**: pp. 970-973 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200704-5910C.
- Brenner, D.J., Elliston, C.D., Hall, E.J., and Berdon, W.E., 2001. *Estimated Risks of Radiation-Induced Fatal Cancer From Pediatric CT.* American Journal of Roentgenology.
 176: pp. 289-296 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.176.2.1760289.
- 49. Modi, A.C., Marciel, K.K., Slater, S.K., Drotar, D., and Quittner, A.L., 2008. *The Influence of Parental Supervision on Medical Adherence in Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis: Developmental Shifts From Pre to Late Adolescence.* Children's Health Care. **37**: pp. 78-92 DOI: 10.1080/02739610701766925.
- 50. klinikum.uni-muenchen. 2022. Interdisziplinäres Mukovizidose Zentrum München. accessed 17.01.2022; Available from: http://www.klinikum.unimuenchen.de/Kinderklinik-und-Kinderpoliklinik-im-Dr-von-Haunerschen-Kinderspital/de/ambulanzen/lungenerkrankungen-christiane-herzogambulanz/interdisziplinaeres-muko-zentrum-muenchen/index.html.
- 51. de Jong, P.A., and Tiddens, H.A.W.M., 2007. *Cystic Fibrosis–Specific Computed Tomography Scoring.* Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society. **4**: pp. 338-342 DOI: 10.1513/pats.200611-175HT.
- 52. Brody, A.S., Kosorok, M.R., Li, Z., Broderick, L.S., Foster, J.L., Laxova, A., Bandla, H., and Farrell, P.M., 2006. *Reproducibility of a Scoring System for Computed Tomography Scanning in Cystic Fibrosis.* Journal of Thoracic Imaging. **21**: pp. 14-21 DOI: 10.1097/01.rti.0000203937.82276.ce.
- 53. DeBoer, E.M., Swiercz, W., Heltshe, S.L., Anthony, M.M., Szefler, P., Klein, R., Strain, J., Brody, A.S., and Sagel, S.D., 2014. *Automated CT Scan Scores of Bronchiectasis and Air Trapping in Cystic Fibrosis.* Chest. **145**: pp. 593-603 DOI: 10.1378/chest.13-0588.
- 54. Mueller-Lisse, U.G., Schmitz, M., Ashoori, N., Allert, S., Mindiuk, I., Pichler, J., Fischer, R., Huber, R., and Reiser, M.F. *Cystic Fibrosis (CF) In Adult Patients: Correlation of Lung*

Function Test Results and Pathologic Lung Morphology as Expressed by the Brody Score. 2012. Vienna: European Congress of Radiology (ECR).

- 55. Spearman, C., 1904. *The Proof and Measurement of Association Between Two Things.* The American Journal of Psychology. **15**: pp. 72-101 DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyq191.
- 56. McMahon, C.J., Dodd, J.D., Hill, C., Woodhouse, N., Wild, J.M., Fichele, S., Gallagher, C.G., Skehan, S.J., van Beek, E.J., and Masterson, J.B., 2006. *Hyperpolarized 3Helium Magnetic Resonance Ventilation Imaging of the Lung in Cystic Fibrosis: Comparison With High Resolution CT and Spirometry*. European Radiology. **16**: pp. 2483-2490 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-006-0311-5.
- 57. Gietema, H.A., Wang, Y., Xu, D., van Klaveren, R., de Koning, H., Scholten, E., Verschakelen, J., Kohl, G., Oudkerk, M., and Prokop, M., 2006. *Pulmonary Nodules Detected at Lung Cancer Screening: Interobserver Variability of Semiautomated Volume Measurements*. Radiology. **241**: pp. 251-257 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2411050860.
- 58. Wilcoxon, F., *Individual Comparisons by Ranking Methods*. Breakthroughs in Statistics. Vol. 1. 1992, New York, NY: Springer 978-0-387-94039-7 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4612-4380-9_16.
- 59. Mann, H.B., and Whitney, D.R., 1947. On a Test of Whether One of Two Random Variables Is Stochastically Larger Than the Other. The Annals of Mathematical Statistics. **18**: pp. 50-60.
- 60. Bachetti, M.C., Lanzi, R., Menculini, G., Scopetta, F., Tortorella, A., and Moretti, P., 2020. *Cannabinoid-Induced Psychosis: A Cross-Sectional Gender Study.* Psychiatria Danubina. **32**: pp. 200-206.
- 61. Koh, Y., Kutty, F.B., and Li, S.C., 2005. *Drug-Related Problems in Hospitalized Patients on Polypharmacy: The Influence of Age and Gender.* Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management. **1**: pp. 39-48 DOI: 10.2147/tcrm.1.1.39.53597.
- 62. Bland, J.M., and Altman, D.G., 1986. *Statistical Methods for Assessing Agreement Between Two Methods of Clinical Measurement.* Lancet. **1**: pp. 307-310 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(86)90837-8.
- 63. Bland, J.M., and Altman, D.G., 1999. *Measuring Agreement in Method Comparison Studies*. Statistical Methods in Medical Research. **8**: pp. 135-160 DOI: 10.1177/096228029900800204.
- Bisdas, S., Surlan-Popovic, K., Didanovic, V., and Vogl, T.J., 2008. Functional CT of Squamous Cell Carcinoma in the Head and Neck: Repeatability of Tumor and Muscle Quantitative Measurements, Inter- And Intra-Observer Agreement. European Radiology. 18: pp. 2241-50 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-008-0990-1.
- 65. Mott, L.S., Park, J., Gangell, C.L., de Klerk, N.H., Sly, P.D., Murray, C.P., and Stick, S.M., 2013. *Distribution of Early Structural Lung Changes Due to Cystic Fibrosis Detected With Chest Computed Tomography.* The Journal of Pediatrics. **163**: pp. 243-248 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.12.042.
- 66. Stiglbauer, R., Schurawitzki, H., Eichler, I., and Götz, M., 1992. *High Resolution CT in Children With Cystic Fibrosis.* Acta Radiologica. **33**: pp. 548-553 DOI: 10.1080/02841859209173210.
- 67. Wiedemann, B., Steinkamp, G., Sens, B., and Stern, M., 2001. *The German Cystic Fibrosis Quality Assurance Project: Clinical Features in Children and Adults.* European Respiratory Journal. **17**: pp. 1187-1194 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.01.00053901.
- 68. Horsley, Á., and Siddiqui, S., 2015. *Putting Lung Function and Physiology Into Perspective: Cystic Fibrosis in Adults.* Respirology. **20**: pp. 33-45 DOI: 10.1111/resp.12382.
- 69. Barr, H.L., Britton, J., Smyth, A.R., and Fogarty, A.W., 2011. Association Between Socioeconomic Status, Sex, and Age at Death From Cystic Fibrosis in England and Wales (1959 to 2008): Cross Sectional Study. BMJ. **343**: pp. 461-469 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d4662.
- McKone, E.F., Ariti, C., Jackson, A., Zolin, A., Carr, S.B., Orenti, A., van Rens, J.G., Lemonnier, L., Macek, M., Jr., Keogh, R.H., and Naehrlich, L., 2021. Survival Estimates in European Cystic Fibrosis Patients and the Impact of Socioeconomic Factors: A Retrospective Registry Cohort Study. European Respiratory Journal. 58: pp. 2002288 DOI: 10.1183/13993003.02288-2020.
- 71. Quittner, A.L., Schechter, M.S., Rasouliyan, L., Haselkorn, T., Pasta, D.J., and Wagener, J.S., 2010. *Impact of Socioeconomic Status, Race, and Ethnicity on Quality of Life in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis in the United States.* Chest. **137**: pp. 642-650 DOI: 10.1378/chest.09-0345.
- 72. Oates, G.R., Stepanikova, I., Gamble, S., Gutierrez, H.H., and Harris, W.T., 2015. Adherence to Airway Clearance Therapy in Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis: Socioeconomic

Factors and Respiratory Outcomes. Pediatric Pulmonology. **50**: pp. 1244-1252 DOI: 10.1002/ppul.23317.

- 73. Collaco, J.M., Blackman, S.M., McGready, J., Naughton, K.M., and Cutting, G.R., 2010. *Quantification of the Relative Contribution of Environmental and Genetic Factors to Variation in Cystic Fibrosis Lung Function.* The Journal of Pediatrics. **157**: pp. 802-807 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.05.018.
- 74. Olesen, H.V., Pressler, T., Hjelte, L., Mared, L., Lindblad, A., Knudsen, P.K., Laerum, B.N., and Johannesson, M., 2010. *Gender Differences in the Scandinavian Cystic Fibrosis Population.* Pediatric Pulmonology. **45**: pp. 959-965 DOI: 10.1002/ppul.21265.
- Huang, N.N., Schidlow, D.V., Szatrowski, T.H., Palmer, J., Laraya-Cuasay, L.R., Yeung, W., Hardy, K., Quitell, L., and Fiel, S., 1987. *Clinical Features, Survival Rate, and Prognostic Factors in Young Adults With Cystic Fibrosis.* The American Journal of Medicine. 82: pp. 871-879 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(87)90147-1.
- 76. Abbott, J., Dodd, M., Bilton, D., and Webb, A.K., 1994. *Treatment Compliance in Adults With Cystic Fibrosis.* Thorax. **49**: pp. 115-120 DOI: 10.1136/thx.49.2.115.
- 77. Verma, N., Bush, A., and Buchdahl, R., 2005. *Is there still a Gender Gap in Cystic Fibrosis?* Chest. **128**: pp. 2824-2834 DOI: 10.1016/S0012-3692(15)52709-8.
- 78. Stern, M., Wiedemann, B., and Wenzlaff, P., 2008. From Registry to Quality Management: The German Cystic Fibrosis Quality Assessment Project 1995–2006. European Respiratory Journal. **31**: pp. 29-35 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.00056507.
- Stick, S.M., Brennan, S., Murray, C., Douglas, T., von Ungern-Sternberg, B.S., Garratt, L.W., Gangell, C.L., De Klerk, N., Linnane, B., and Ranganathan, S., 2009. Bronchiectasis in Infants and Preschool Children Diagnosed With Cystic Fibrosis After Newborn Screening. The Journal of Pediatrics. 155: pp. 623-628 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.05.005.
- Baltieri, S., Pinali, L., Bortoluzzi, C., Volpi, S., Tridello, G., Tiddens, H.A.W.M., Loeve, M., Assael, B., and Montemezzi, S. *Evaluation of Lung Disease Progression With CT Brody Score in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis (CF)*. 2014. Vienna: European Congress of Radiology (ECR) DOI: 10.1594/ecr2014/C-1098.
- 81. Vult von Steyern, K., Björkman-Burtscher, I.M., and Geijer, M., 2013. *Radiography, Tomosynthesis, CT and MRI in the Evaluation of Pulmonary Cystic Fibrosis: An Untangling Review of the Multitude of Scoring Systems.* Insights into Imaging. **4**: pp. 787-798 DOI: 10.1007/s13244-013-0288-y.
- 82. Oikonomou, A., Manavis, J., Karagianni, P., Tsanakas, J., Wells, A.U., Hansell, D.M., Papadopoulou, F., and Efremidis, S.C., 2002. *Loss of FEV1 in Cystic Fibrosis: Correlation with HRCT Features.* European Radiology. **12**: pp. 2229-2235 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-002-1340-3.
- 83. Tiddens, H.A.W.M., and de Jong, P.A., 2007. *Imaging and Clinical Trials in Cystic Fibrosis.* Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society. **4**: pp. 343-346 DOI: 10.1513/pats.200611-174HT.
- 84. D., J.D., B., S.C., B., R.B.M., G., C.G., S., S.J., and M., J.B., 2006. *Thin-Section CT in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis: Correlation With Peak Exercise Capacity and Body Mass Index.* Radiology. **240**: pp. 236-245 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2401050502.
- 85. Shah, R.M., Sexauer, W., Ostrum, B.J., Fiel, S.B., and Friedman, A.C., 1997. *High-Resolution CT in the Acute Exacerbation of Cystic Fibrosis: Evaluation of Acute Findings, Reversibility of Those Findings, and Clinical Correlation.* American Journal of Roentgenology. **169**: pp. 375-380 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.169.2.9242738.
- 86. Brody, A.S., Sucharew, H., Campbell, J.D., Millard, S.P., Molina, P.L., Klein, J.S., and Quan, J., 2005. *Computed Tomography Correlates With Pulmonary Exacerbations in Children With Cystic Fibrosis.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. **172**: pp. 1128-1132 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200407-989OC.
- de Jong, P.A., Ottink, M.D., Robben, S.G.F., Lequin, M.H., Hop, W.C.J., Hendriks, J.J.E., Paré, P.D., and Tiddens, H.A.W.M., 2004. *Pulmonary Disease Assessment in Cystic Fibrosis: Comparison of CT Scoring Systems and Value of Bronchial and Arterial Dimension Measurements.* Radiology. **231**: pp. 434-439 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2312021393.
- Lanzkron, S., Sawicki, G.S., Hassell, K.L., Konstan, M.W., Liem, R.I., and McColley, S.A., 2018. *Transition to Adulthood and Adult Health Care for Patients With Sickle Cell Disease or Cystic Fibrosis: Current Practices and Research Priorities.* Journal of Clinical and Translational Science. **2**: pp. 334-342 DOI: 10.1017/cts.2018.338.
- 89. Brumfield, K., and Lansbury, G., 2004. *Experiences of Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis* During Their Transition From Paediatric to Adult Health Care: A Qualitative Study of

Young Australian Adults. Disability and Rehabilitation. **26**: pp. 223-234 DOI: 10.1080/09638280310001644924.

- Carpio, C., Albi, G., Rayón-Aledo, J.C., Álvarez-Sala, R., Girón, R., Prados, C., and Caballero, P., 2015. *Changes in Structural Lung Disease in Cystic Fibrosis Children Over* 4 Years as Evaluated by High-Resolution Computed Tomography. European Radiology. 25: pp. 3577-3585 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-015-3782-4.
- 91. van Staa, A.L., Jedeloo, S., van Meeteren, J., and Latour, J.M., 2011. *Crossing the Transition Chasm: Experiences and Recommendations for Improving Transitional Care of Young Adults, Parents and Providers.* Child: Care, Health and Development. **37**: pp. 821-832 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01261.x.
- 92. Mott, L.S., Park, J., Murray, C.P., Gangell, C.L., de Klerk, N.H., Robinson, P.J., Robertson, C.F., Ranganathan, S.C., Sly, P.D., Stick, S.M., and Arest, C.F., 2012. *Progression of Early Structural Lung Disease in Young Children With Cystic Fibrosis Assessed Using CT.* Thorax. **67**: pp. 509-516 DOI: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200912.
- 93. Cademartiri, F., Luccichenti, G., Palumbo, A.A., Maffei, E., Pisi, G., Zompatori, M., and Krestin, G.P., 2008. *Predictive Value of Chest CT in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis: A Single-Center 10-Year Experience*. American Journal of Roentgenology. **190**: pp. 1475-1480 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.07.3000.
- 94. Judge, E.P., Dodd, J.D., Masterson, J.B., and Gallagher, C.G., 2006. *Pulmonary Abnormalities on High-Resolution CT Demonstrate More Rapid Decline Than FEV1 in Adults With Cystic Fibrosis.* Chest. **130**: pp. 1424-1432 DOI: 10.1378/chest.130.5.1424.
- 95. Oikonomou, A., Tsanakas, J., Hatziagorou, E., Kirvassilis, F., Efremidis, S., and Prassopoulos, P., 2008. *High Resolution Computed Tomography of the Chest in Cystic Fibrosis (CF): Is Simplification of Scoring Systems Feasible?* European Radiology. **18**: pp. 538-547 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-007-0810-z.
- 96. Rosenfeld, M., Davis, R., FitzSimmons, S., Pepe, M., and Ramsey, B., 1997. *Gender Gap in Cystic Fibrosis Mortality*. American Journal of Epidemiology. **145**: pp. 794-803 DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009172.
- Corey, M., Edwards, L., Levison, H., and Knowles, M., 1997. Longitudinal Analysis of Pulmonary Function Decline in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis. The Journal of Pediatrics.
 131: pp. 809-814 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70025-8.
- 98. Kraemer, R., Baldwin, D.N., Ammann, R.A., Frey, U., and Gallati, S., 2006. *Progression of Pulmonary Hyperinflation and Trapped Gas Associated With Genetic and Environmental Factors in Children With Cystic Fibrosis.* Respiratory Research. **7**: pp. 1-15 DOI: 10.1186/1465-9921-7-138.
- 99. Shmarina, G., Pukhalsky, A., Petrova, N., Zakharova, E., Avakian, L., Kapranov, N., and Alioshkin, V., 2013. *TNF Gene Polymorphisms in Cystic Fibrosis Patients: Contribution to the Disease Progression*. Journal of Translational Medicine. **11**: pp. 1-8 DOI: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-19.
- 100. Mueller-Lisse, U.G., Marwitz, L., Tufman, A., Huber, R.M., Zimmermann, H.A., Walterham, A., Wirth, S., and Paolini, M., 2018. Less Radiation, Same Quality: Contrast-Enhanced Multi-Detector Computed Tomography Investigation of Thoracic Lymph Nodes With One Milli-Sievert. La Radiologia Medica. **123**: pp. 818-826 DOI: 10.1007/s11547-018-0915-2.
- 101. Paolini, M., Wirth, K., Tufman, A., Reiser, M., Huber, R.M., and Mueller-Lisse, U.G., 2016. Thoracic Lymph Node Delineation at Dose-Reduced (1 Msv) Dose-Modulated Contrast Enhanced Mdct: A Retrospective Pilot Study. La Radiologia Medica. **121**: pp. 644-651 DOI: 10.1007/s11547-016-0645-2.
- 102. Coppenrath, E., Mueller-Lisse, U.G., Lechel, U., Veit, R., Weber, C., Banac, S., Eibel, R., Bitterling, H., De Lorenzo, C., and Fischer, R., 2004. *Niedrigdosis-Spiral-CT des Thorax in der Verlaufskontrolle nichtmaligner Lungenerkrankungen.* RöFo. **176**: pp. 522-528 DOI: 10.1055/s-2004-813038.
- 103. Rea, G., De Martino, M., Capaccio, A., Dolce, P., Valente, T., Castaldo, S., Canora, A., Lassandro, F., and Bocchino, M., 2021. Comparative Analysis of Density Histograms and Visual Scores in Incremental and Volumetric High-Resolution Computed Tomography of the Chest in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Patients. La Radiologia Medica. **126**: pp. 599-607 DOI: 10.1007/s11547-020-01307-7.
- 104. Winklehner, A., Berger, N., Maurer, B., Distler, O., Alkadhi, H., and Frauenfelder, T., 2012. Screening for Interstitial Lung Disease in Systemic Sclerosis: The Diagnostic Accuracy of HRCT Image Series With High Increment and Reduced Number of Slices. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. **71**: pp. 549-552 DOI: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-200564.

9. Appendix

٦	Table	7: C1	l sca	nner	s app	blied	overt	ime a	t "Ll	MU K	liniku	ım"
	1		_	-			_	_				

Dhilipp									
- Inniha	2	03/1999 - 03/2000	2.0 - 10.0	120 - 130	30 - 40		BF10, VBF4		
Siemens	2	11/1999 - 01/2003	1,25 - 5,0	120 - 140	35	10	B50s, B40f	1.14	39
Philips	15	11/1999 - 10/2006	1.3 - 5.0	90 - 120	30 - 342	10-190	C, D		
Philips	32	07/2002 - 05/2013	1.0 - 10.0	120 - 130	40 - 100	40 -100	AT0, AE+2, AT+2		
Siemens	ω	02/2003 - 10/2009	1.0 - 6.0	120	35 - 218	15 - 109	B30f, B40f, B50f	1.2 - 8.1	38 - 304
Siemens	4	04/2006 - 07/2009	0.75 - 1.0	120	103 - 554	42 -197	B70f, O	4.2 - 13.1	137 - 432
Siemens	-	04/2007	5,0	120	190	67	B30f	4,3	157
Philips	36	12/2007 - 02/2013	1.5 - 3.0	120	31 - 70	15 - 30	L, YA	0.9 - 1.9	31.4 - 78.7
GE	-	07/2009	0,625	120	40	-	LUNG	1,68	59,89
Siemens	-	03/2011	3,0	120	127	90	B60f	4,57	160
Siemens	-	04/2013	4,0	100	77	64	I30f/3	4,19	270
GE	9	04/2013 - 03/2018	0.625 - 2.50	100 - 120	12 - 40	0	LUNG	0.64 - 1.61	20.7 - 61.0
GE	-	01/2014	2,5	120	86	N	LUNG	3.28	127,17
Siemens	-	09/2014	3,0	120	212	88	I50f/3	5,95	162
Siemens	<u> </u>	10/2014	1,5	100	111	92	170f/2	3,18	374
	Siemens Philips Siemens Siemens GE GE GE GE GE Siemens Siemens Siemens	Siemens 2 Philips 15 Philips 32 Siemens 3 Siemens 1 Siemens 1 Siemens 1 GE 1 GE 1 Siemens 1 Siemens 1	Siemens211/1999 - 01/2003Philips1511/1999 - 10/2006Philips3207/2002 - 05/2013Siemens302/2003 - 10/2009Siemens404/2006 - 07/2009Siemens104/2007Siemens104/2007GE107/2009Siemens103/2011Siemens104/2013GE904/2013 - 03/2018GE101/2014Siemens109/2014Siemens110/2014	Siemens211/1999 - 01/20031,25 - 5,0Philips1511/1999 - 10/20061.3 - 5.0Philips3207/2002 - 05/20131.0 - 10.0Siemens302/2003 - 10/20091.0 - 6.0Siemens404/2006 - 07/20091.0 - 6.0Siemens104/2006 - 07/20090.75 - 1.0Siemens104/2007 - 02/20135,0Philips3612/2007 - 02/20131.5 - 3.0GE103/20113,0Siemens104/2013 - 03/20180.625 - 2.50GE904/2013 - 03/20180.625 - 2.50Siemens101/20142,5Siemens110/20141,5	Siemens211/1999-01/20031,25 - 5,0120 - 140Philips1511/1999 - 10/20061.3 - 5.090 - 120Philips3207/2002 - 05/20131.0 - 10.0120 - 130Siemens302/2003 - 10/20091.0 - 6.0120Siemens404/2006 - 07/20090.75 - 1.0120Siemens104/2007 - 02/20131.5 - 3.0120GE107/20090,625120Siemens104/2013 - 03/20183.0120GE904/2013 - 03/20180.625 - 2.50100 - 120GE101/20142,5120Siemens101/20141,5100	Siemens211/1999-01/20031,25-5,0120-14035Philips1511/1999-10/20061.3-5.090-12030-342Philips3207/2002-05/20131.0-10.0120-13040-100Siemens302/2003-10/20091.0-6.0120135-218Siemens404/2006-07/20090.75-1.0120103-554Siemens104/2007-02/20131.5-3.0120103-554GE107/20090,62512031-70Siemens104/2013-03/20180,625-2.50100127Siemens104/2013-03/20180.625-2.50100-12012-40GE101/20142.512086Siemens109/20141,5100111	Siemens211/1999-01/20031,25-5,0120-1403510Philips1511/1999-10/20061.3-5.090-12030-34210-190Philips3207/2002-05/20131.0-10.0120-13040-10040-100Siemens302/2003-10/20091.0-6.012035-21815-109Siemens404/2006-07/20090.75-1.0120103-55442-197Siemens104/2007-02/20131.5-3.012019067Philips3612/2007-02/20131.5-3.012031-7015-30GE103/20113,012012790Siemens104/2013-03/20180.625-2.50100-12012-400GE904/2013-03/20180.625-2.50100-12012-400Siemens109/20142,5120862Siemens110/20141,510011192	Slemens211/1999-01/20031,25-5,0120-1403510B50s, B40fPhilips1511/1999-10/20061,3-5,090-12030-34210-190C, DPhilips3207/2002-05/20131,0-10,0120-13040-10040-100AT0, AE+2, AT+2Slemens302/2003-10/20091,0-6,012035-21815-109B30f, B40f, B50fSlemens404/2007-02/20190,75-1,0120130-56442-197B30f, B40f, B50fSlemens104/2007-02/20131,5-3,012019067B30fGE107/20090,62512012790B60fSlemens104/2013-03/20180,625-2.50100-12012-400LUNGGE101/20142,5120120862LUNGSlemens101/20142,5120212-400LUNGSlemens101/20141,5100-12012-400LUNGSlemens101/20142,5120862LUNGSlemens101/20141,51001192100f3Slemens101/20141,5100119210f2	Slemens211/1999 - 01/20031,25 - 5,0120 - 1403510B50s, B40f1,14Philips1511/1999 - 10/20061,3 - 5,090 - 12030 - 34210 - 190C, DPhilips3207/2002 - 05/20131,0 - 100120 - 13040 - 10040 - 100AT0, AE+2, AT+2Slemens302/2003 - 10/20091,0 - 6,012035 - 21815 - 109B30f, B40f, B50f1,2 - 8,1Slemens404/2006 - 07/20090,75 - 1,0120103 - 56442 - 197B70f, O42 - 13,1Slemens104/2007 - 02/20131,5 - 3,012019067B30f4,2 - 13,1Slemens104/2007 - 02/20131,5 - 3,012031 - 7015 - 30L, YA0,9 - 1,9GE101/20090,62512012031 - 7015 - 30L, VA0,9 - 1,9Slemens104/2013 - 03/20180,625 - 2.50100 - 12012790B60f4,57Slemens101/20142,5120862LUNG0,64 - 1,61GE101/20142,5120862LUNG3,28Slemens101/20143,012021288150f35,95Slemens101/20143,012021288150f35,95Slemens101/20141,510011192170f23,18

arı											
ogy dep	Model	Manufacturer	5	Period	Slice thickness (mm)	kVp (kV)	Tube current (mA)	Exposure (C/kg)	Convolution kernel	CTDIvol (mGy)	DLP (mGy*cm)
aului	SOMATOM (Edge) Plus 24	Siemens	-	09/1998	4.0	137	275				
man	SOMATOM Sensation 16	Siemens	<u> </u>	01/2009	2.0	120	126	57	B60f		
CALC	SOMATOM Emotion 6	Siemens	-	04/2011	2.5	130	250	150	B70s	7,19	289,56
ieu iii	SOMATOM	Siemens	-	05/2011	5.0	110	27	16	B80s	1,3	37
appi	SOMATOM Sensation 64	Siemens	Ν	09/2013 - 10/2013	1.0 - 5.0	100 - 120	42 - 57	15 - 20	B70f	1,15	38
111613	Aquilion	Canon	_	10/2013	1.0	120	40	20	FC35	2,6	
Scal	SOMATOM Definition AS	Siemens	-	05/2014	1.0	120	252	105	170f/2	5,9	224
0.01	SOMATOM Definition AS	Siemens	-	10/2014	3.0	80	43	23	I40f/3	0,49	14
able	SOMATOM Emotion 6	Siemens	-	08/2015	5.0	130	62	46	B31s	7,54	387

Table 8: CT scanners applied in external radiology department

Bronchiectasis	=	Extend of bronchiectasis in central lung	+	Extend of bronchiectasis in peripheral lung	x	Averaç size m	ge br ultip	onchiectasis lier
50010 (lunge, 0 12)		0 = none		0 = none		Avera	ge m	ultiplier size
		1 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		1 = 1/3 of lobe		0.5	=	0
		$2 \ge 2/3$ of lobe		2 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		1	_	1
				3 ≥ 2/3 of lobe		1 5	_	1 25
						1.5	_	1.25
						2	=	1.5
						2.5	=	1.75
						3	=	2
Where average	=	Size of largest dilatated bronchus	+	Average size of dilated bronchi	÷	2		
DIGHCHIEGIASIS SIZE		1 ≤ 2x		1 ≤ 2x				
		2 = 2x - 3x		2 = 2x - 3x				
		3 ≥ 2x		3 ≥ 3x				
Mucous plugging score (range, 0 - 6)	$1 = 1/3 - 2/3 \text{ of lobe}$ $1 = 1/3 - 2/3 \text{ of lobe}$ $2 \ge 2/3 \text{ of lobe}$ $2 \ge 1/3 - 2/3 \text{ of lobe}$ $2 = 1/$							
Bronchiectasis=score (range, 0 - 12)Where average bronchiectasis size=Mucous plugging score (range, 0 - 6)=Peribronchial thickening score (range, 0 - 9)=Parenchyma score (range, 0 - 9)=Pyperinflation score (range, 0 - 4.5)=	0 = none							
		1 = 1/3 of lobe		0 = 1000				
		2 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		1 = 1/3 of lobe				
		$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe		2 = 1/3 - 2/3 of lobe				
				$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe				
Peribronchial thickening	=	Extend of peribronchial thickening in central lung	+	Extend of peribronchial thickening in peripheral	х	Severi thicker	ty of ning	peribronchial
score (range, 0 - 9)		0 = none				1 = mi	ld	
		1 = 1/3 of lobe				1.25 =	moc	lerate
		2 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		1 = 1/3 of lobe		1.5 = s	seve	re
		$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe		2 = 1/3 - 2/3 of lobe				
				$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe				
Parenchyma score (range, 0 - 9)	=	Extend of dense parenchymal opacity	+	Extend of ground-glass opacity	+	Extend bullae	d of c	cysts or
(0 = none		0 = none		0 = no	ne	
		1 = 1/3 of lobe		1 = 1/3 of lobe		1 = 1/3	B of l	obe
		2 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		2 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		2 = 1/3	8 – 2	/3 of lobe
		$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe		$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe		3 ≥ 2/3	8 of le	obe
Hyperinflation score	=	Extend of air trapping	x	Appearance of air				
(range, 0 - 4.5)		0 = none		1 = subseqmental				
		1 = 1/3 of lobe		1.5 = segmental or				
		2 = 1/3 – 2/3 of lobe		larger				
Parenchyma score (range, 0 - 9) Hyperinflation score (range, 0 - 4.5)		$3 \ge 2/3$ of lobe						

Table 9: HRCT Scoring system (adapted from Brody, A.S., et al. [11])

"range" refers to the respective minimum and maximum scores attainable for each individual lung lobe.

Table 10: The Brody score in the cross-sectional	study	(n=91)
--	-------	--------

		Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
Total Brody score	01	0.00	144.00	75.18	74.75	56.00	118.38
(range, 0 - 207)	02	0.00	175.00	87.91	93.75	46.13	100.25
Bronchiectasis	01	0.00	58.50	29.59	31.00	21.00	54.25
(range, 0 - 72)	02	0.00	72.00	36.21	37.50	16.50	41.25
Mucous plugging	01	0.00	33.00	13.48	13.00	9.00	18.00
(range, 0 - 36)	02	0.00	36.00	13.82	14.00	7.00	21.00
Peribronchial thickening	01	0.00	51.00	22.60	21.75	12.88	31.50
(range, 0 - 54)	02	0.00	54.00	21.41	20.75	12.50	27.50
Parenchymal opacity	01	0.00	12.00	2.46	1.00	0.00	4.00
(range, 0 - 54)	02	0.00	26.00	9.67	8.00	5.00	14.00
Hyperinflation	01	0.00	24.00	7.04	7.00	5.00	9.00
(range, 0 - 27)	O2	0.00	27.00	6.80	6.00	1.00	9.75

Table 11: Correlations between the total Brody score and its respective sub-scores in the cross-sectional study $(n\mbox{=}91)$

	O1	O2
Bronchiectasis	r _s =0.90, p<0.001	r₅=0.92, p<0.001
Mucous plugging	r _s =0.76, p<0.001	r₅=0.56, p<0.001
Peribronchial thickening	r _s =0.88, p<0.001	r₅=0.85, p<0.001
Parenchymal opacity	r _s =0.50, p<0.001	r₅=0.48, p<0.001
Hyperinflation	r _s =0.63, p<0.001	r₅=0.50, p<0.001

Table 12: Correlation between the Brody score and its respective sub-scores with the different spirometry parameters, vital capacity (VC), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), and the Tiffeneau index (FEV1/FVC), and with the body mass index (BMI) in the cross-sectional study (n=40)

		VC	FEV1	FEV1/FVC	BMI
Total Brody score	01	r _s =-0.75 p<0.001	r₅=-0.81 p<0.001	r _s =0.68 p<0.001	r _s =-0.76 p<0.001
	O2	r _s =-0.60 p<0.001	r₅=-0.69 p<0.001	r₅=-0.67 p<0.001	r _s =-0.67 p<0.001
Bronchiectasis	01	r _s =-0.64 p<0.001	r₅=-0.74 p<0.001	r _s =-0.71 p<0.001	r _s =-0.70 p<0.001
	02	r₅=-0.59 p<0.001	r₅=-0.69 p<0.001	r₅=-0.68 p<0.001	r _s =-0.58 p<0.001
Mucous plugging	01	r _s =-0.52 p<0.001	r₅=-0.54 p<0.001	r₅=-0.39 p<0.05	r _s =-0.64 p<0.001
	O2	r₅=-0.23 p>0.05	r₅=-0.29 p>0.05	r₅=-0.28 p>0.05	r₅=-0.55 p<0.001
Peribronchial thickening	01	r _s =-0.60 p<0.001	r₅=-0.61 p<0.001	r _s =-0.45 p<0.005	r₅=-0.68 p<0.001
	02	r _s =-0.51 p<0.001	r₅=-0.58 p<0.001	r _s =-0.58 p<0.001	r₅=-0.59 p<0.001
Parenchymal opacity	01	r₅=-0.60 p<0.001	r₅=-0.52 p<0.001	r₅=-0.25 p>0.05	r₅=-0.58 p<0.001
	02	r₅=-0.62 p<0.001	r₅=-0.63 p<0.001	r₅=-0.50 p<0.005	r _s =-0.49 p<0.01
Hyperinflation	01	r _s =-0.66 p<0.001	r _s =-0.75 p<0.001	r _s =-0.71 p<0.001	r _s =-0.39 p<0.05
	02	r _s =-0.44 p<0.01	r₅=-0.52 p<0.001	r _s =-0.53 p<0.001	r _s =-0.37 p<0.05

91)
2

		Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
Male patients (n=47)	01	0.00	137.00	71.36	71.88	42.50	97.38
	02	2.50	158.50	84.40	92.13	58.75	112.00
Female patients (n=44)	01	0.00	144.00	78.75	79.25	55.00	105.25
	O2	0.00	175.00	91.20	98.25	53.75	122.75

Table 1_{1} . The block score in the conditional struct interval interval in $(11-2)$	Table 14: The Brody	v score in the cohort st	udy: initial HRCT-e	examination (n=2	9)
---	---------------------	--------------------------	---------------------	------------------	----

		Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
Total Brody score	01	0.00	137.00	63.91	64.75	41.75	83.00
(range, 0 - 207)	02	3.50	158.50	76.92	79.00	51.00	102.50
Bronchiectasis	01	0.00	56.50	23.78	23.25	13.75	33.00
(range, 0 - 72)	02	0.00	68.00	29.79	29.00	14.75	44.00
Mucous plugging	01	0.00	26.00	12.90	13.00	8.00	17.00
(range, 0 - 36)	02	0.00	27.00	12.79	15.00	5.00	21.00
Peribronchial thickening	01	0.00	49.50	19.44	18.00	9.00	28.00
(range, 0 - 54)	02	0.00	54.00	20.04	21.00	12.00	24.00
Parenchymal opacity	01	0.00	10.00	1.52	0.00	0.00	2.00
(range, 0 - 54)	02	0.00	26.00	7.86	6.43	4.00	12.00
Hyperinflation	01	0.00	24.00	6.28	6.00	4.00	8.00
(range, 0 - 27)	02	0.00	27.00	6.43	6.00	1.00	9.00

Table 15: The Brody score in the cohort study: follow-up HRCT-examination (n=29)

		Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
Total Brody score	01	8.00	141.50	77.49	79.00	57.50	96.50
(range, 0 - 207)	02	9.00	179.00	105.47	106.50	73.50	134.50
Bronchiectasis	01	0.00	54.00	31.80	31.75	21.75	43.50
(range, 0 - 72)	02	0.00	72.00	44.88	48.00	30.25	58.25
Mucous plugging	01	0.00	24.00	13.38	12.00	11.00	17.00
(range, 0 - 36)	02	0.00	28.00	14.83	14.00	9.00	21.00
Peribronchial thickening	01	2.00	48.00	22.53	20.00	15.50	28.50
(range, 0 - 54)	02	4.00	54.00	25.90	23.00	14.50	35.00
Parenchymal opacity	01	0.00	7.00	2.76	2.00	2.00	4.00
(range, 0 - 54)	02	0.00	29.00	9.93	8.00	6.00	11.00
Hyperinflation	01	0.00	17.00	7.02	6.00	6.00	8.00
(range, 0 - 27)	O2	0.00	27.00	9.93	7.00	4.00	11.50

		Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
Total Brody score	01	-51.00	82.75	13.58	10.25	-6.75	28.00
	02	-23.25	138.75	28.54	25.25	1.00	36.25
Bronchiectasis	01	-20.00	32.00	8.02	8.25	3.75	13.50
	02	-10.25	58.25	15.09	12.50	3.25	21.50
Mucous plugging	01	-10.00	16.00	0.48	-1.00	-3.00	5.00
	02	-24.00	25.00	2.03	2.00	-4.00	7.00
Peribronchial thickening	01	-19.00	27.50	3.09	2.50	-4.75	9.25
	02	-24.00	38.00	5.85	4.50	-4-25	12.75
Parenchymal opacity	01	-7.00	7.00	1.24	2.00	0.00	3.00
	02	-12.00	23.00	2.07	3.00	-4.00	5.00
Hyperinflation	01	-22.00	9.00	0.74	0.00	-2.00	6.00
	02	-17.00	21.00	3.50	2.00	0.00	7.00

Table 16: Change of the total Brody score and its respective sub-scores in the cohort study (n=29)

Table 17: Spirometry parameters in the cohort study: initial examination (n=12)

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
VC (%)	51.8	117.7	79.3	80.9	63.7	91.4
FEV1 (%)	33.0	115.7	67.7	69.3	49.1	79.3
FEV1/FVC	0.52	0.82	0.70	0.74	0.59	0.77
BMI (kg/m²)	16.6	26.6	20.0	19.6	18.0	20.6

Table 18: Spirometry parameters in the cohort study: follow-up examination (n=23)

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
VC (%)	39.0	121.0	70.3	69.4	52.5	82.8
FEV1 (%)	22.5	116.9	54.9	50.9	32.9	67.4
FEV1/FVC	0.33	0.80	0.62	0.62	0.54	0.73
BMI (kg/m ²)	15.7	26.2	19.4	18.6	18.0	19.9

		VC	FEV1	FEV1/FVC	BMI
initial examination (n=12)	01	r _s =-0.43 p>0.05	r₅=-0.51 p>0.05	r₅=-0.54 p>0.05	rs=-0.48 p>0.05
	O2	r _s =-0.36 p>0.05	r₅=-0.53 p>0.05	r _s =-0.65 p>0.05	r₅=-0.58 p<0.05
follow-up examination (n=23)	01	r _s =-0.65 p<0.001	r₅=-0.51 p<0.05	r _s =-0.44 p<0.05	r _s =-0.39 p>0.05
	O2	r₅=-0.75 p<0.001	r _s =-0.69 p<0.001	r₅=-0.51 p<0.05	r₅=-0.41 p<0.05

Table 19: Correlations between the Brody score, the spirometry parameters, and the BMI in the cohort study

Table 20: Change of the spirometry parameters between the initial and the follow-up examination in the cohort study (n=12)

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Median	0.25	0.75
initial VC (%)	51.8	117.7	79.3	80.9	63.7	91.4
follow-up VC (%)	39.0	121.0	70.3	69.4	52.5	82.8
Δ VC (%p)	-22.8	27.7	-1.0	-2.9	-10.2	6.4
initial FEV1 (%)	33.0	115.7	67.7	69.3	49.1	79.3
follow-up FEV1 (%)	22.5	116.9	54.9	50.9	32.9	67.4
Δ FEV1 (%p)	-35.8	37.5	-1.5	-3.5	-12.1	8.7
initial FEV1/FVC	0.52	0.82	0.70	0.74	0.59	0.77
follow-up FEV1/FVC	0.50	0.80	0.67	0.69	0.61	0.74
Δ FEV1/FVC	-0.15	0.18	-0.03	-0.03	-0.10	0.02
initial BMI (kg/m²)	16.6	26.6	20.0	19.6	18.0	20.6
follow-up BMI (kg/m²)	15.7	26.2	19.4	18.6	18.0	19.9
Δ BMI (kg/m ²)	-2.0	1.1	-0.2	0.0	-0.9	0.5

Acknowledgements

Mein Dank gilt Herrn Prof. Dr. Maximilian Reiser und Herrn Prof. Dr. Jens Ricke für die Möglichkeit des wissenschaftlichen Arbeitens und das Verfassen meiner Dissertation an der Klinik und Poliklinik für Radiologie des Klinikums der Universität Münchens (LMU).

Mein besonderer Dank gilt Herrn. Prof. Dr. Ullrich G. Müller-Lisse zur Überlassung des Themas und seiner ausgezeichneten Betreuung. Er stand mir stets zur Seite und hat mir auf dem Weg meiner Promotion vieles beigebracht.

Auch möchte ich mich bei allen Mitarbeiterinnen und Mitarbeitern sowie allen Patientinnen und Patienten der CF-Ambulanz bedanken, die diese Studie erst ermöglicht haben.

Nicht zu vergessen, geht ein riesiges Dankeschön an meinen Mitstreiter Ahmad Hagla, welcher Stunden über Stunden oft spät in der Nacht und an Wochenenden mit mir in mühevoller Arbeit die CTs ausgewertet hat.

Insbesondere möchte ich auch meinen Eltern, Carola und Dr. Markus Steybe, sowie meiner Schwester Chiara Steybe für die langjährige Unterstützung während meines Studiums und darüber hinaus danken. Sie waren immer für mich da und motivierten mich stets, diese Dissertation zu verfassen. Auch sie haben viel Zeit und Arbeit in Korrekturen gesteckt und haben mir an vielen Stellen mit wertvollen Ideen weitergeholfen.

Meiner seit langen Jahren allerbesten Freundin Vera Graeve möchte ich für etliche Sprachnachrichten danken, die mich immer wieder motivierten an dieser Dissertation weiterzuarbeiten. Auch in Zeiten von Schreibblockaden fand sie stets die richtigen Worte, um mich aufzuheitern und mich von zu viel selbstgemachtem Druck zu befreien.

Ein riesengroßes Dankeschön gilt meinem Mann Dr. Simon Kratzer, der viele viele Stunden seiner Zeit für mehrfaches, teils sehr anstrengendes Korrekturlesen aufgewendet hat und durch seine Expertise geholfen hat, diese Dissertation zu dem zu machen, was sie nun ist.

Affidavit



LUDWIG-MAXIMILIANS-UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Dekanat Medizinische Fakultät Promotionsbüro



Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Kratzer, Vivien Laura

Name, Vorname

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Thema

Korrelation verschiedener radiologischer Untersuchungsverfahren und Verfahren der Lungenfunktionsuntersuchung bei Patienten mit zystischer Fibrose

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, der 15.11.2024

Vivien L. Kratzer

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift Vivien Laura Kratzer

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Stand: 12.11.2024